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Statement of the Management Board  
 
Annual Report 2012 consists of the following parts and reports: 
            Introduction – general information (page 3) 
            Management Report (pages 4-14) 
            Consolidated Financial Statements (pages 15-92) 
            Independent Auditor's Report (pages 93-94) 
            Proposal of the Management Board regarding the profit distribution (page 95). 
 
The financial and other additional information published in the Annual Report 2012 is true 
and complete. There is no financial or other information, missing from the Annual Report 
2012, which could affect the meaning or contents of the report. Consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the actual financial position, results of operations and 
cash flows of the Group. 
 
Consolidated financial statements have been compiled in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union and as stipulated in § 17 of 
the Estonian Accounting Law. The Annual Report 2012 has been compiled in accordance 
with the requirements of Estonian laws. AS SEB Pank and subsidiaries of the consolidated 
group are assumed to be going concern. 
 
The audit of consolidated financial statements for the year 2012 was conducted in accordance 
with International Standards of Auditing. The Annual Report 2012 will be submitted for the 
approval to the ultimate shareholder Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ). Previous 
Annual Report 2011 was approved on 29.03.2012. 
  
Members of Management Board: 
 
 
“_____”________________2013      ______________________     Riho Unt 
 
 
“_____”________________2013      ______________________     Inga Ruduša 
 
 
“_____”________________2013      ______________________     Allan Parik 
                                                     
 
“_____”________________2013      ______________________     Erki Pugal 
 
 
“_____”________________2013      ______________________     Eerika Vaikmäe-Koit 
 
 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
AS SEB Pank, Annual Report 2012                                                                                                  
   

 

 - 3 - 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I. Introduction - general information

1. Credit institution
Company name AS SEB Pank
Address Tornimäe Str. 2, Tallinn 15010, Estonia
Registered in Republic of Estonia
Registry date 08.12.1995
Registry code 10004252 (Estonian Commercial Register)
Phone +372 6 655 100 
Fax +372 6 655 102
SWIFT EEUHEE2X
e-mail info@seb.ee 
Internet homepage http://www.seb.ee 

2. Auditor
Audit company AS PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Registry code 10142876 (Estonian Commercial Register)
Address Pärnu Str. 15, 10141 Tallinn, Estonia

Reporting date 31.12.2012
Reporting period 01.01.2012 - 31.12.2012
Reporting currency Euro (EUR), millions
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II. Management Report 
 

1. Credit institution's group as defined in Credit Institutions Law 
 

1.1. Consolidated group 

 
All enterprises are registered in Estonian Commercial Register. 
 
* Consolidated subsidiaries of AS SEB Liising. 
** Associates. 
*** For all investments the percentage of holding equals to both, the holding from the number 
of shares as well as from the number of votes. 
 
Parent company of the Group is AS SEB Pank, its activity is banking (information on page 3). 
  
The “consolidated group” in the meaning of Credit Institutions Law in Estonia and the 
“Group” for IFRS consolidation purposes are identical. 
  
Non-profit association SEB Heategevusfond is an association, not belonging to the 
consolidation group, registered on 06.01.2006. The founders of the association are AS SEB 
Pank and AS SEB Elu- ja Pensionikindlustus. The association is aimed at raising and 
distributing funds for charitable cause to organisations, dealing with children, who have been 
deprived of parental care. Upon dissolution of the association, the assets remaining after 
satisfaction of the claims of creditors shall be transferred to a non-profit association or 
foundation with similar objectives, entered to the list of associations subject to income tax 
incentive of the Government of the Estonian Republic, or a legal person in public law, state or 
local government. 
  
Non-profit association Spordiklubi United is an association, not belonging to the 
consolidation group, which started activity from September 2008. The association is founded 
by AS SEB Pank. The association is aimed at organising on hobby and competition level 
sport events and organising promotions for advertising of own and supporter´s activities. 
Upon dissolution of the association, the assets shall be transferred to a non-profit association, 
foundation or other persons filling the objectives by articles in public interests. 
 

Company name
Registry 

code
Reg. date Address Activity

Holding 
(% )      
***

At an 
acqui- 
sition 
cost 
(EUR 
mio)

AS SEB Liising 10281767 03.10.97 Tallinn, Tornimäe 2 Leasing 100.0% 1.8
AS Rentacar* 10303546 20.10.97 Haapsalu, Karja 27 Leasing 100.0% 0.0
AS SEB Kindlustusmaakler* 10723587 16.01.01 Tallinn, Tornimäe 2 Insurance brokerage 100.0% 0.0

AS Bangalo 10088272 18.10.96 Tallinn, Tornimäe 2 Rental of computers 100.0% 0.0
AS SEB Varahaldus 10035169 22.05.96 Tallinn, Tornimäe 2 Asset management 100.0% 2.7
AS Sertifitseerimiskeskus** 10747013 27.03.01 Tallinn, Pärnu mnt 141 Data communication services 25.0% 1.0
Tieto Estonia Services OÜ ** 11065244 30.08.04 Tallinn, Tammsaare tee 47 Information processing and 

network management
20.0% 0.0

5.5
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Changes in the consolidated group during the accounting period and plans for year 2013 
On July 27, 2012 AS Bangalo (100% of the shares held by AS SEB Pank) and AS SEB 
Kindlustusmaakler (100% of the shares held by AS SEB Liising) were merged with AS SEB 
Liising .  
        
Regarding developments in financial markets in 2012, the uncertainties continuously 
dominated the world economy. In response to the debt crisis, central banks eased substantially 
monetary policy. Impact of regional recovery for Estonian economy in 2012 and of related 
expectations for 2013 are described in Note 1.2 on page 19-21. No such events or trends have 
occurred by the time of publishing the report, which would affect the strategy of the group in 
2013. 
 
1.2. Members of Management and Supervisory Board and shares held by them 
       
Members of the Management Board during 2012: Riho Unt, Paulius Tarbūnas, Allan Parik, 
Erki Pugal, Eerika Vaikmäe-Koit. Paulius Tarbūnas has been recalled from the Management 
Board as of 01.02.2013. As of 11.02.2013 Inga Ruduša was elected as a member of the 
Management Board. 
 

Members of the Supervisory Board: Martin Johansson, Stefan Stignäs, Mark Payne, Stefan 
Davill, Tony Kylberg. 
 
The members of AS SEB Pank Management and Supervisory Board and their confidants, as 
well as the commercial undertakings controlled jointly or severally by the above mentioned 
persons did not hold any shares of  AS SEB Pank as of 31.12.2012. 
 
1.3. Strategy and organisation 
 
AS SEB Pank is 100% owned by ultimate shareholder Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ) – parent company, which belongs to a financial group with a remarkable history of 
business. SEB Pank Group, a member of SEB Group, is an Estonian financial group that 
serves private individuals, companies and the public sector. The bank is a universal bank that 
offers its customers a wide range of financial services. 
 
SEB is a leading Nordic financial services group. As a relationship bank, SEB in Sweden and 
the Baltic countries offers financial advice and a wide range of financial services. In 
Denmark, Finland, Norway and Germany the bank's operations have a strong focus on 
corporate and investment banking based on a full-service offering to corporate and 
institutional clients. The international nature of SEB's business is reflected in its presence in 
20 countries worldwide. The SEB Group has about 17,000 employees.  
 
SEB Pank Group brings the vision of the SEB Group, which is to be the leading bank in 
Northern Europe based on entrepreneurship, an international presence and long-term 
relationships, to life in Estonia. We promise our customers a rewarding relationship and keep 
this promise by always taking an innovative approach. AS SEB Pank is a leading universal 
bank in Estonia. We are leading within a number of areas including cash management, asset 
management and life insurance. AS SEB Pank acts as a Centre of Excellence within the SEB 
Group for Asset Management activities concerning Eastern Europe. 
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The more than 853 800 customers of SEB Pank Group are served by 1118 employees. The 
customers are served through many different channels such as 33 branch offices, 259 on-line 
post offices, 322  ATMs, 7213 POS-terminals. There are more than 528 900 debit and credit 
cards in use. In addition, over 75% of our customers use our SEB Internet Bank and SEB 
Internet Bank for Business services. 
 
2. Highlights  
 
Effectiveness and development 
In 2012, AS SEB Pank significantly increased its cooperation with the SEB Latvian and 
Lithuanian banks. Strengthening of cooperation in the Baltics has helped to introduce new 
modern banking services to our customers and reduced costs for banks. A good example of 
cross-border cooperation is SEB Baltic Online, which offers the possibility for business 
clients to manage company accounts in SEB banks in Latvia and Lithuania, in real time, 
through the SEB Estonia Internet Bank.  
 
As an important direction, AS SEB Pank developed Business Clients Financial Advisory 
Model in 2012. SEB Estonia began to offer financial advisory for its corporate clients, using 
an application created for that purpose. The novel application enables the bank to present a 
profound financial analysis of a company in a simple and summarised form. Companies can 
simulate various scenarios together with their account manager with a view to identifying 
risks and new business opportunities. In the second half of the year, SEB carried out a 
advisory project all over Estonia, counselling more than 900 corporate clients.  
 
The consumer habits of our clients changed considerably last year. In the beginning of 2012, 
the number of clients using the mobile banking service surpassed the number of people who 
visited branches, and by the end of the year the clients of AS SEB Pank were using the mobile 
bank three times more than the traditional bank branches. Consumer habits have never 
changed this fast before in Estonian banking. 
 
To conform to the expectations of its corporate clients, SEB opened the Mobile Bank for 
Business Clients in April, where it is possible to make and confirm payments, view balances 
of accounts and credit cards, manage e-invoices, as well as confirm payments in bulk. The 
Mobile Bank for Businesses works equally well both in a smart phone and in a regular cell 
phone. Smart phones enable the use of special applications created for the iPhone and 
Android phones. Mobile Bank now also allows convenient movement between the Private and 
Business Client Mobile Banks. 
 
With the triumph of mobile banking, clients have quickly adopted some other modern 
banking services as well. In November 2012, SEB introduced an innovative savings product 
on the Estonian market, Digikassa, which allows clients to set aside virtual cents generated by 
card payments, similarly to a conventional piggy bank. By the end of the year, the new 
product was being used by almost 15 000 people, who had been able to set aside almost EUR 
200 000 in less than two months by saving cents on their everyday purchases. The service of 
Digikassa was developed to be customer-based and utilises the principles of product design, 
and such simple and convenient services are likely to remain and characterise the new modern 
banking era. 
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In 2012, SEB, together with other leading Estonian banks and technology companies, started 
a pilot project to test an innovative payment solution, where payment card chip functionality 
has been moved onto a cell phone SIM card. So, in the future, the bank’s customers may 
make their everyday card payments with a mobile phone instead of using payments made with 
regular plastic cards. 
 
Gathering customer feedback plays an important role in a bank’s product and business 
development. In the second quarter of 2012, AS SEB Pank improved its customer feedback 
collection system, enabling it to operatively monitor customer satisfaction, both on the level 
of the Baltic countries and by smaller local business units. Regular use of feedback helps to 
respond quickly to the market changes. 
 
Organisation 
AS SEB Pank was the first large enterprise in Estonia to start paying employer’s pension to its 
employees in 2012. In the beginning of the last year, the Estonian tax system changed; now, 
in addition to paying a salary, employers can contribute to the 3rd pillar pension solution of 
employees without it being considered a fringe benefit. The example of SEB was followed by 
many businesses all over Estonia. 
 
As of 1 July 2012, Allan Parik, Member of the Board of AS SEB Pank and the Head of SEB 
Baltic Corporate Banking is also a Member of the Management Board of the SEB Baltic 
Division. His area of responsibility is managing SEB Baltic corporate banking. Allan Parik 
has been with the bank since 1995. In 1997, he became Head of the Large Corporates 
Department. He served as Head of the Corporate Banking Division from 2000, as Deputy 
Head of Corporate Banking from 2007, and as Head of Corporate Banking from 2009. In 
parallel, Allan Parik will also continue to manage SEB Estonia Corporate Banking in his 
capacity as Head of SEB Baltic Corporate Banking.  
 
On 16 June 2012, 412 employees of AS SEB Pank set a Guinness world record by composing 
the largest mosaic picture in the world made entirely of coins in eight hours. The coin mosaic 
depicts a bank card.  
 
AS SEB Pank received several awards and recognitions in 2012. 

 Global monthly financial publication The Banker selected AS SEB Pank as the best 
bank in Estonia. SEB was also declared the best bank in Sweden, Latvia and 
Lithuania. The panel of The Banker was impressed by the consultancy aids created by 
AS SEB Pank for private and corporate clients; in other words, the manner in which 
we develop, in addition to our everyday work, the awareness of our clients regarding 
their financial affairs. 

 SEB Estonia was the most popular brand in the finance sector, according to the TNS 
Emor brand rankings survey carried out in the beginning of 2012. The study 
determined the Estonian people’s favourite brands out of the 149 viewed. The 
selection included five banks and the highest, 11th position belonged to AS SEB Pank. 

 Based on its 2012 survey, the international finance magazine Euromoney has named 
SEB Estonia the best private banking provider in Estonia. 

 Financial magazine Global Finance named AS SEB Pank the best trade finance bank 
in Estonia in 2012. 

 The Estonian Banking Association organised a survey in 2011 and SEB’s financial 
helpers were elected the best banking action of the year. Both the Financial Planner 
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and the financial analysis model for business clients are revolutionary developments in 
increasing financial literacy and sharing SEB’s financial analysis capacity with its 
clients. 

 AS SEB Pank won three awards in the Kuldmuna (Golden Egg) advertising and 
communication competition: The outdoor solution of the AS SEB Pank and RSA joint 
campaign was awarded a Silver Egg; bringing mobile banking to the market was 
considered worthy of a Bronze Egg in the category of digital advertising, and the SEB 
Charity Fund’s print series earned a Bronze Egg. 

 During the FinanceEstonia Forum, SEB Varahaldus was acknowledged with the first 
annual award for outstanding activities in bringing a branch of the international group 
to Estonia and developing its operation. For almost ten years, AS SEB Varahaldus has 
provided an investment management service for Eastern-European stock funds for 
SEB Sweden and Luxembourg. According to the assessment of the Management 
Board and experts of Finance Estonia, the acknowledgement is earned by the duration 
of the experience and consistency of activities of SEB Varahaldus in Estonia, and the 
geographical range and volume of the business managed from Estonia. 

 
Customer relations and customer satisfaction 
TNS Emor’s customer satisfaction survey regarding the products and services offered by 
Estonia’s biggest banks revealed that private clients who compared the four largest banks are 
most satisfied with the banking services offered by AS SEB Pank. The most valued aspects of 
AS SEB Pank were that it is easy to get in contact with the bank, the bank’s employees are 
friendly, responses are given within a reasonable amount of time, the bank is trustworthy and 
the bank’s employees have comprehensive knowledge.  
 
Business clients also rated AS SEB Pank highly, highlighting the comprehensive knowledge 
of AS SEB Pank employees as well as the consultations, as the suggestions from these are 
good for business. Business clients also noted the trustworthiness of AS SEB Pank, its 
friendly employees, reasonable waiting times and that the bank keeps its promises.  
 
Social responsibility and sponsorship 
AS SEB Pank has been engaged in charity for years, paying special attention to the next 
generation. The bank is focused on supporting four fields: children without parental care, high 
culture, recreational sports, and business environment. 
 
One of the most pressing social problems in Estonia has been children without parental care. 
To help these children, in 2005 AS SEB Pank founded a non-profit association – SEB 
Heategevusfond (charity fund) that organises several projects each year. The biggest project 
of 2012 was the Christmas tree project organised together with Delfi news portal, delivering a 
personal Christmas present to 1200 children deprived of parental care all over Estonia.  
 
Another large project next to the Christmas tree was a training for 43 replacement homes in 
Estonia on knowledge and skills in fire safety. Rescue specialists explained to almost 1200 
children and employees of shelters and substitute homes, how a fire gets started and develops 
and what to do when a fire has already flared up. The project initiated by SEB 
Heategevusfond was carried out in cooperation with the Rescue Board and the Ministry of 
Internal Affairs. 
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The largest cultural project was giving out the audience awards for both the male and female 
soloists of the Estonian National Opera, selected by visitors to the opera. AS SEB Pank is a 
gold sponsor of the Estonian National Opera. 
 
AS SEB Pank supports Estonia's leading business plan competition Ajujaht, which is 
designed to contribute to the creation of new knowledge based companies and to boost the 
business skills of students and young scientists. The winner of the 2012 competition was 
Raybike, a three-wheeled scooter with unique control system.  
 
As a promoter of recreational sports, AS SEB Pank is a sponsor of some of the largest sports 
events in our region. AS SEB Pank sponsored the following sports events in 2012: 

 Tartu marathon, which was the Estonia’s largest cross-country skiing competition, 
with 6750 participants; 

 25th SEB May Run with almost 12 000 women – this is the participation record of the 
twenty-five years of history of the May runs; 

 SEB 30th Tartu Running Marathon with more than 3900 runners; 
 SEB 31st Tartu Cycling Race with more than 4200 bikers; 
 SEB Tallinn Marathon which was the largest sports competition in the Baltics with 

more than 18 000 participants. SEB Tallinn Marathon is one of the world’s 50 most 
prestigious marathons; 

 SEB 6th Tartu Roller Skating Marathon with more than 1500 roller skaters; 
 SEB 15th Tartu Cycling Marathon with more than 7400 cyclists. 

 
In 2012, the non-profit organisation founded by AS SEB Pank and Tallink Grupp, SEB 
Tallink Tennis Team, achieved great results, developing a professional preparation system for 
talented young tennis players and helping them achieve world-class results. The strategic 
objective of the long-term team is to develop young talents into tennis players that have an 
ability to break through to the international arena. 
 
In addition to the above, AS SEB Pank also participated in the international action Earth 
Hour. 
 
3. Statement of remuneration in SEB Pank Group 
 
Remuneration policy 
SEB Pank Group vision is to be the trusted partner for customers with aspirations. To drive 
and support the achievement of this vision, it is of vital importance that SEB Pank Group is 
able to attract, retain, develop and reward the right talents. 
 
The Remuneration Policy of SEB Pank Group provides a framework for rewarding 
sustainable long-term value creation in line with shareholders interest. It is based on the 
efficient performance culture in combination with sound risk management, also taking into 
account sufficient capital and the necessary liquidity. 
 
SEB Pank Group believes in and promotes a sound and dynamic performance culture as a 
means for achieving long-term success and encourages performance and the right behaviours. 
A cornerstone in the performance culture is the performance management process with 
transparent and aligned target setting, evaluation and rewards. 
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SEB Pank Group remuneration structure consists of three components: 
a) base pay or hourly rate (the fixed component of the remuneration); 
b) variable pay: 

a. short-term cash-based variable compensation (STI); 
b. long-term equity-based variable compensation (LTI); 
c. one-off bonuses; 

c) other benefits. 
The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee of the SEB Group is responsible for 
monitoring the remuneration policy and remuneration practice within the SEB Group, which 
includes SEB Pank Group. 
 
AS SEB Pank has established Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration and Human 
Resources Committee consists of four members, of which three members are also members of 
the supervisory board of AS SEB Pank. The remuneration committee is responsible for the 
preparation of decisions regarding remuneration, including those which have implications for 
the risk and risk management of the SEB Pank Group. The Chair and the members of the 
remuneration committee are persons who do not perform any executive functions in the SEB 
Pank Group. When preparing such decisions, the remuneration committee takes into account 
the long-term interests of shareholders, investors and other stakeholders in the credit 
institution. 
 
The remuneration policy is adopted by the Supervisory Board of AS SEB Pank. The Head of 
HR and Training Division  conducts a yearly review of the Remuneration policy and can, 
after having consulted among others the bank’s control functions head’s propose amendments 
to the policy. The Head of HR and Training Division gives a proposal to the Management 
Board and the Remuneration Committee, who prepares the proposal for final adoption by the 
Supervisory Board. 
 
Performance measurement and risk management 
Financial performance is measured on group, divisional and business unit level in the SEB 
Pank Group. Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) has an established model for 
calculating and allocating risk capital in the business. The allocation of risk capital reflects the 
risk exposure of each line of business. The risk adjustment of financial performance is based 
on this allocation model, further the competitive situation and estimated current and future 
risks are taken into account. Individual performance and behaviour are also important 
parameters in the remuneration model. Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) has a group 
wide process for evaluating and documenting the performance and behaviour of each 
employee, in which setting and evaluating qualitative as well as quantitative individual targets 
is of major importance. 
 
Purpose and parameters for variable pay 
SEB Pank Group believes in encouraging strong performance, desired behaviours and 
balanced risk-taking. Variable pay aims to drive and reward performance and behaviours that 
create short and long term shareholder value, and is also an essential way of achieving 
flexibility in the remuneration cost. 
 
Short-term variable cash-based compensation in SEB Pank Group is based on the annual 
performance and behaviours of the individual as well as the team/business unit and the SEB 
Pank Group and SEB Group as a whole. 
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Statement of remuneration  of the specially regulated staff 
The Estonian Parliament has in 2011 implemented a new law “Law of Changes in the Law of 
Investment Funds and other related legislation” which came into force as of 3 April 2011. 
This law sets new regulations on remuneration to secure that all financial institutions in 
Estonia have a sound and controlled risk taking and that the remuneration systems support 
such sound risk taking. These regulations are in line with the European Union legislation and 
CEBS (the Committee of European Banking Supervisors) guidelines on Remuneration 
Policies and Practices. 
 
In accordance with the new regulations, AS SEB Pank has defined specially regulated staff 
according to the four categories given in the regulations: 

A.  Senior management (including members of Management Board). 
B. Responsible persons within control functions. 
C. Risk takers; i.e. employees having material impact on the risk profile of the credit 

institution (taking decisions that effect the risk positions of the bank), incl. risk 
managers or compliance employees. 

D. Employees within the same remuneration bracket as members of Management Board. 
 
Supervisory Board of AS SEB Pank shall approve the list of specially regulated staff 
according to Management Board proposal. The list shall be compiled by Compliance 
Department and Risk Control Department. 
 
Maximum variable pay levels 
SEB Pank Group shall provide a sound balance between fixed and variable remuneration and 
align the payout horizon of variable pay with the risk horizon. This implies that certain 
maximum levels and deferral arrangements apply for specially regulated staff. Variable pay 
shall not exceed 100% of annual base salary. 
 
A certain part of variable pay shall be deferred for three to five years in order to evaluate the 
operational performance used in determining the variable pay, as well as the sustainability 
thereof and any risks associated with it. 
 
SEB Pank Group reserves the right to withhold a part of or the whole deferred variable 
payment or demand partial or full repayment of the disbursed variable remuneration following 
the evaluation of the performance in the accounting year, should the performance of SEB 
Pank Group fall short of the business targets set. 
 
Deferral structure 
Based on Credit Institutions Act, Article 57’, subsection 2, considering the nature, scope and 
complexity of the bank’s business operations and the fact that for practical reasons it was not 
considered as possible to develop a programme for issuing the shares of AS SEB Pank (the 
100% owner of the shares of which is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB) to the AS SEB 
Pank employees, the SEB Pank Group has decided not to implement payment of variable pay 
in the form of the shares of the credit institution, stock options or other similar rights and 
establish the following procedure for the payment of variable pay. 
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Employees in categories referred to as specially regulated staff, with an annual variable pay 
of: 
a) 10,000 EUR or more and; 
b) exceeds 40% of employee’s total compensation annually (not applied on employees 
included in Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB’s List of Specially Regulated Staff, as 
defined by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB’s policies), will be subject to a deferral of the 
variable pay. 
 
The required deferral is at least 40 per cent. AS SEB Pank has defined 105 employees as 
specially regulated staff including the Management Board. The long-term share-based 
variable pay system, established in the SEB Group is a programme based on the shares of 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB, established throughout the SEB Group and this is 
applicable to the selected managers and key employees. 
 
Remuneration 
(millions of EUR) 

Remuneration Number of employees

2012

Board*

Specially 
regulated 

staff
Other 

employees TOTAL Board*

Specially 
regulated 

staff
Other 

employees TOTAL

Fixed remuneration 0.8 3.4 17.8 22.0 9 90 1197 1296 **
Variable Pay 0.2 0.6 1.4 2.2 9 83 1056 1148
whereof:

Short-term cash-based 0.1 0.4 1.3 1.8
Long-term equity-based 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.4

Deferred variable pay 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.5
Accrued and paid remuneration 0.1 0.6 1.3 2.0

Severance pay *** 0.0 60

-

* board members of the bank and subsidiaries
** 178 of them were non-active employees.
*** Highest single amount was 8958 euros.

Remuneration Number of employees

2011

Board*

Specially 
regulated 

staff
Other 

employees TOTAL Board*

Specially 
regulated 

staff
Other 

employees TOTAL

Fixed remuneration 0.8 3.4 18.9 23.1 10 87 1306 1403 **
Variable Pay 0.2 0.5 1.6 2.3 10 80 1140 1230
whereof:

Short-term cash-based 0.1 0.4 1.5 2.0

Long-term equity-based 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.3
Deferred variable pay 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.6
Accrued and paid remuneration 0.1 0.4 0.1 0.6
Severance pay *** 0.5 97

-

* board members of the bank and subsidiaries
** 193 of them were non-active employees.
*** Highest single amount was 32 988 euros.

Agreed but not yet paid 
severance pay

Agreed but not yet paid 
severance pay
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4. Key figures
(millions of EUR)

31.12.12 31.12.11

Net profit 71.3 98.1

Average equity 666.6 581.1

Return on equity (ROE), % 10.70 16.88

Average assets 4,143.5 4,214.9

Return on assets (ROA), % 1.72 2.33

Net interest income 81.2 88.7

Average interest earning assets 4,034.7 4,101.7

Net interest margin (NIM), % 2.01 2.16

Credit losses adjusted net interest income 83.1 113.5

Average interest earning assets 4,034.7 4,101.7

Credit losses adjusted net interest margin, % 2.06 2.77

Interest income 109.7 129.8

Average interest earning assets 4,034.7 4,101.7

Yield on interest earning assets, % 2.72 3.16

Interest expense 28.5 41.1

Interest bearing liabilities, average 3,382.5 3,537.8

Cost of interest bearing liabilities, % 0.84 1.16

Spread, % 1.88 2.00

Cost / Income ratio, % 45.1 45.1

Ratio of individually impaired loans, % 1.39 2.25

Explanations

Return on equity (ROE) = Net profit/Average equity * 100

Average equity =  (Equity of current year end + Equity of previous year end)/2

Return on assets (ROA) = Net profit/Average assets * 100

Average assets =  (Assets of current year end + Assets of previous year end)/2

Spread = Yield on interest earning assets - Cost of interest bearing liabilities

Cost/Income Ratio = Total Operating Expenses/Total Income * 100

Cost of interest bearing liabilities = Interest expenses/Average interest bearing liabilities *100

Ratio of individually impaired loans = Individually impaired loans/Loans to customers and credit
institutions* 100

Net interest margin (NIM) = Net interest income/Average interest earning assets * 100

Yield on interest earning assets = Interest income/Average interest earning assets *100
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Interest earning assets:

Balances with central bank

Loans and advances to credit institutions

Loans and advances to customers

Debt securities and other fixed income securities

(all without accrued interests)

Interest bearing liabilities:
Due to credit institutions
Due to customers
Loan funds
Subordinated loans
(all without accrued interests)

Total Operating Expenses:
Personnel expenses
Other expenses
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Total Income:
Net Interest Income
Net fee and commission income
Net income from foreign exchange
Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Income from dividends
Gains less losses from investment securities
Share of profit of associates
Other income

Assets quality
(millions of EUR) 31.12.12 31.12.11

Total assets 4,183.0 4,104.0
Overdue loans and receivables* 116.8 166.4
Overdue/Total assets, % 2.79 4.05
Allowances for losses on amounts due from customers and credit institutions 91.2 131.0

* This part of  the loan principal that has become overdue.



 
 
 
 
AS SEB Pank, Annual Report 2012                                                                                                  
   

 

 - 15 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes on pages 19 - 92 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

III. Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Consolidated income statement
(millions of EUR) Note 2012 2011

Interest and similar income 3 109.7 129.8

Interest expenses and similar charges 4 -28.5 -41.1

Net Interest Income 81.2 88.7

Fee and commission income 5 51.8 51.1

Fee and commission expense 6 -14.7 -13.9

Net fee and commission income 37.1 37.2

Net income from foreign exchange 7 4.8 4.9
8 2.5 2.2

16 -0.1 -0.2

18 0.2 0.1

Other income 9 0.6 0.5

Personnel expenses 10 -33.6 -34.8

Other expenses 11 -20.1 -22.3

19, 20 -3.2 -3.0

69.4 73.3
Impairment losses on loans and advances 12 1.9 24.8

Profit before income tax 71.3 98.1
Income tax 0.0 0.0

Net profit 71.3 98.1

Profit attributable to the sole equity holder 71.3 98.1

2. Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
2012 2011

Net profit 71.3 98.1

Other comprehensive income/expense
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 16 0.6 -0.1

Total other comprehensive income/expense 0.6 -0.1

Total comprehensive income 71.9 98.0

Sole equity holder of the parent entity (total) 71.9 98.0
-Total comprehensive income from continued operations 71.9 98.0

71.9 98.0

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Profit before impairment losses on loans and advances

Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Gains less losses from investment securities

Share of profit of associates
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The notes on pages 19 - 92 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

3. Consolidated statement of financial position
(millions of EUR) Note 31.12.12 31.12.11

ASSETS

Cash 46.6 38.7

Balances with central bank 13 191.0 49.5

Loans and advances to credit institutions 14 291.4 423.0

Loans and advances to customers 15 3,585.3 3,540.5

Financial assets held for trading 16 21.4 21.0

Available-for-sale financial assets 16 5.3 4.9

Other assets 17 31.7 18.0

Investments in associates 18 0.6 0.5

Intangible assets 19 0.5 0.4

Property, plant and equipment 20 9.2 7.5

TOTAL ASSETS 4,183.0 4,104.0

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Due to credit institutions 21 748.2 948.5

Due to customers 22 2,610.7 2,378.8

Loan funds 23 24.0 18.1

Other liabilities 24 73.7 54.8

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 25 21.7 20.5

Provisions 26 1.9 2.9

Subordinated loans 27 0.0 50.1

Total Liabilities 3,480.2 3,473.7

Share capital 28 42.5 42.5

Share premium 86.3 86.1

Other reserves 30 20.3 19.8

Retained earnings 553.7 481.9

Total shareholders' equity 702.8 630.3

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 4,183.0 4,104.0
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The notes on pages 19 - 92 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4. Consolidated statement of cash flows
(millions of EUR)

Note 2012 2011

I. Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received 112.9 128.9
Interest paid -33.5 -41.8
Fee and commission received 5 51.8 51.1
Fee and commission paid 6 -14.7 -13.9
Net trading income and other operating income 5.8 4.3
Personnel expenses and other operating expenses -51.0 -53.1

71.3 75.5

   Changes in operating assets:
Loans and advances to credit institutions and mandatory reserve in central bank 171.9 -322.1
Loans and advances to customers -45.5 91.0
Other assets -7.8 1.9

   Changes of operating liabilities: 0.0 0.0
Due to credit institutions -178.4 -481.7
Due to customers 233.3 228.7

Loan funds 5.9 4.8
Other liabilities 0.7 -4.4
Cash flow from (used in) operating activities 251.4 -406.3

II. Cash flows from investing activities

0.6 -0.3
Proceeds from sale and liquidation of associates and subsidiaries 0.0 0.4
Purchase of investment properties, tangible and intangible assets 19, 20 -5.0 -3.4
Proceeds from sale of investment properties, tangible and intangible assets 19, 20 0.0 1.9
Cash flow from (used in) investing activities, continued operations -4.4 -1.4

III. Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of subordinated loans 27 -50.0 -67.0
Cash used in financing activities -50.0 -67.0

Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 197.0 -474.7

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 87.3 562.0
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.0

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 284.3 87.3

Cash and cash equivalents includes: 31.12.12 31.12.11

Cash on hand 46.6 38.7
Balances with the central bank without mandatory reserve 166.1 0.0
Liquid deposits in other credit institutions 71.5 47.4
Trading portfolio 0.1 1.2

284.3 87.3
All cash equivalents are freely available for use by the Group with maturity of less than 3 months.

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in the operating assets 
and liabilities

Net increase-/decrease+ of investment portfolio securities
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The notes on pages 19 - 92 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

5. Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' equity
(millions of EUR)

Share 
capital  

(Note  28)
Share 

premium 

Other 
reserves 
(Note 30)

Retained 
earnings

Total share- 
holders' 
equity  

Year beginning 01.01.2011 42.5 86.1 20.0 383.2 531.8

Statutory reserve 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.1 0.0

Other 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5

Net profit 0.0 0.0 0.0 98.1 98.1

Other comprehensive expense:

Net change in available-for-sale financial 
assets 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -0.1

Total other comprehensive expense 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -0.1

Total comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 -0.1 98.1 98.0
Final balance 31.12.2011 42.5 86.1 19.8 481.9 630.3

Year beginning 01.01.2012 42.5 86.1 19.8 481.9 630.3
Statutory reserve 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.1 0.0
Other 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.4 0.6
Net profit 0.0 0.0 0.0 71.3 71.3
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in available-for-sale financial 
assets 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6

Total other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6
Total comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.6 71.3 71.9
Final balance 31.12.2012 42.5 86.3 20.3 553.7 702.8
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
1. Accounting principles 
 
AS SEB Pank (Reg. No. 10004252) is a credit institution registered in Tallinn (Estonia), 
Tornimäe Street 2, the sole shareholder of which is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ), who is also the ultimate controlling party, registered in Sweden (Note 28).  
 
As at the end of year 2012 SEB Pank Group employed 1,118 people (2011 1,210). These 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been approved 
for issue by the Management Board and are subject to approval by the ultimate shareholder. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
The functional currency of the parent company AS SEB Pank and the subsidiaries is euro.  
2012 consolidated financial statements have been presented in euros. 
 
For the convenience of the users, these consolidated financial statements have been presented 
in millions of euros, unless stated otherwise.  
 
1.1. Basis of preparation 
 
These consolidated financial statements of SEB Pank Group (the Group) are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as 
disclosed in some of the accounting policies below (i.e. financial assets at fair value). 
Financial statements have been prepared according to accrual principle of accounting. The 
group classifies its expenses by nature of expense method. 
 
When the presentation or classification of items in the consolidated financial statements is 
amended, comparative amounts for the previous period are also reclassified, if not referred 
differently in specific accounting principle. 
 
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been 
published by the time of compiling these financial statements that are mandatory for the 
company’s accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2012 or later periods. The overview 
of these standards and the Group management estimate of the potential impact of applying the 
new standards and interpretations is given at the end of this section (Note 1.21). Note 1.21 
gives also overview of the new IFRS standards, amendments and interpretations that became 
effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on or after 1.01.2013 and which the Group 
has not early adopted.  
 
1.2. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU requires the use of certain critical 
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accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgement of current events and 
actions, the actual outcome and the results ultimately may significantly differ from those 
estimates. More detailed overview of the estimates made is provided under accounting 
principles or disclosures set out below.  
 
Critical estimates and judgements are primarily used in the following areas: 

a) Loan allowances, incl. fair value assessment of collateral (Note 2.2). 
In 2012, the bank reviewed the provisioning model of homogenous loan groups to 
obtain assurance that the model is reflecting the experience, obtained during the years 
of the economic crisis, in managing problem loans. In the course of the review the 
management estimate was amended, to supplement the length of indebtedness of non- 
performing unsecured loans impairment calculation. This change has been recognised 
in the bank's accounts as a change in the management's estimates, as a result of which 
an additional allowance  of 9.6 million euros was recorded in the current period. 
 

b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Note 2.7). 
 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under these 
circumstances. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial 
statements in the period assumptions change. Management believes that the underlying 
assumptions are appropriate and the Group´s financial statements therefore present the 
financial position and results fairly. 
 
Developments in global financial markets   
In 2012, the uncertainties continuously dominated the world economy. In response to the debt 
crisis, central banks eased substantially monetary policy. Interest rates were lowered to the 
historically lowest levels and substantial quantitative easing was carried through. As a result 
of the measures, the global depression was prevented in 2012. Partly this was achieved on the 
account of growing fiscal deficits, bringing public debt to new high levels. This poses a 
burden for the developed economies and will hinder their economic growth for a long period. 
The quantitative easing increases the inflation risk for the future.  
 
Quantitative easing and accommodative monetary policy is predicted to continue also in 2013. 
That’s why the forecasts for economic growth rates are slightly better for 2013, although the 
eurozone will remain in the recession. Despite a stabilisation of the situation in euro zone, 
risks have not disappeared and major challenges remain both in short and longer term 
perspective, among them public debt reduction and competitiveness improvement.   
 
The debt crisis has become less acute during 2012 with a help from European Central Bank 
with its Outright Monetary Transactions (OMT) program, which helped to bring down the 
yields of the problematic government bonds. Although the situation in euro zone has 
stabilised and the risk of a member country leaving has decreased there are plenty of 
challenges, like too high public debt, political instability, which hinders necessary reforms 
and continuing recession in eurozone, forecasted to last well into 2013. At the same time, 
some pick up is expected in USA and China, to lift the global growth. 
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Impact on customers / borrowers  
Stabilized but uncertain financial markets, continuous but slow recovery and general 
uncertainty has impact on borrower’s confidence but ability to repay the amounts owed based 
on actual financial results have improved. Slow recover and moderate outlook has become a 
new normal. Management’s cash flow forecasts and assessment of the impairment of financial 
and non-financial assets confirm general stable outlook. To the extent that information is 
available, management has identified main risk position in several industries and is 
performing special regular observation. Management has properly reflected revised estimates 
of expected future cash flows in its impairment assessments. 
 
Impact on collateral (especially real estate) 
The amount of provision for impaired loans is based on management’s appraisals of these 
assets at the reporting date taking into account potential cash flows from sale deducted by 
costs for obtaining and selling the collateral. The market in Estonia for many types of 
collateral, especially real estate, has stabilized but still affected by the general macroeconomic 
uncertainty in Estonia and other markets. Assets experiencing temporary low market liquidity 
or assets potentially under realization have been evaluated case by case in accordance to the 
cash flow model approved by Group. 
 
1.3. Consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements of the SEB Pank Group comprise of the financial 
statements of the parent company AS SEB Pank and its subsidiaries as of 31 December 2012. 
The subsidiaries being consolidated are listed on page 4 (see Table 1.1). 
 
In the group’s consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the parent bank 
and its subsidiaries have been combined on a line-by-line basis. Intra-group balances and 
intra-group transactions and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies have 
been eliminated in full. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. All the subsidiaries that are controlled by AS 
SEB Pank have been consolidated. The accounts of the subsidiaries used for consolidation 
have been prepared in conformity with the accounting principles of the parent company. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiary is an entity controlled by the parent company. Control is presumed to exist when 
the parent owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting power of an enterprise or 
otherwise has power to govern the financial and operating policies and is able to exercise 
control over them in order to benefit from their activities. Subsidiaries are consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the 
date that control ceases to exist.  
 
The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. 
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in the 
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acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets.  
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree 
over the fair value of the group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the 
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.  
 
Revenues and expenses of the subsidiaries acquired within the financial year are consolidated 
into the Group income statement starting from the date of acquisition to the end of the 
financial year. Result of operations of subsidiaries disposed of during the year is consolidated 
into Group income statement from the beginning of the financial year until the date of 
disposal. 
 
Associates 
Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, but which it does not 
control. Generally, significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 
20% and 50% of the voting rights.  
Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in 
associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on 
acquisition. Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting. Under this method, the investment in Group financial statements is increased by 
the share of post-acquisition profit and reduced by the share of loss or distribution of profit 
received from the associated company and attributable to the Group and any goodwill 
impairment. The Group’s share of profits or losses of associates is recorded in the 
consolidated profit or loss for the year as share of result of associates. The Group’s share of 
post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and presented separately. When the Group’s share of losses in an 
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured 
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate.  
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group. 
 
Parent company separate financial statements – primary statements 
In the parent separate primary financial statements, disclosed to these consolidated financial 
statements (see Note 34), the investments into the shares of subsidiaries and associated 
companies are accounted for at cost less any impairment recognised. 
 
1.4. Foreign currency transactions and assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency 
 
All other currencies except for the functional currency (the functional currency of the parent 
company and subsidiaries is Euro constitute foreign currencies. Foreign currency transactions 
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have been translated to functional currencies based on the foreign currency exchange rates of 
the European Central Bank prevailing on the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in a foreign currency have been translated into functional currency based on the 
foreign currency exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing on the balance sheet 
date. Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the income statement as income or 
expenses of that period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency measured at fair value, have been translated into functional currency based on the 
foreign currency exchange rates of the European Central Bank  prevailing on the balance 
sheet date. 
 
1.5. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are cash at hand, 
available for use deposits due from Central Bank and readily available deposits in other credit 
institutions and also less than 3-month maturity liquid securities acquired for trading purpose. 
 
1.6. Financial assets 
 
The SEB Pank Group classifies the financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of 
information and take into account the characteristics of those financial instruments. The 
classification made can be seen in the table below: 

 
 
Financial assets are any assets that are cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another 
financial asset from another party, a contractual right to exchange financial instruments with 
another party under conditions that are potentially favourable or an equity instrument of 
another party. 
 
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition. The SEB 
Pank Group has not classified any financial assets to the category “Held to maturity” and 
“Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception” in the reporting 
period. 
 
 

Category (as defined by IAS 39) Class (as determined by the Group)

Loans and advances to credit institutions
Housing loans
Other loans to Private 
individuals

Loans to Corporates

Loans to Public sector

Debt securities
Equity securities
Derivatives – non-hedging
Listed
Unlisted
Listed
Unlisted

Loans to 
corporate 
entitiesFinancial   

assets

Loans and 
receivables

Loans and advances to 
customers

Loans to 
individuals

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss

Financial assets held for 
trading

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Investment securities – debt 
securities

Investment securities – equity 
securities
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1.6.1. Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the SEB Pank Group provides 
money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the resulting 
receivable. 
 
Loans and receivables are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at fair value including any transaction costs, when the cash is paid to the borrower or 
right to demand payment has arisen and are derecognised only when they are repaid or 
written-off, regardless of the fact that part of them may be recognised as costs through 
providing allowances for loans. The loan allowances are presented on the respective line of 
statement of financial position at negative value. Loans have been recognised in the statement 
of financial position at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Accrued 
interest on the loans is recorded in the respective line of statement of financial position. For 
overdrafts and credit cards, the actual use of the limit by the borrower is stated in the 
statement of financial position. The unused credit limit is recognised as contingent liability. 
 
Repurchase agreements 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repos”) are recorded as loans and 
advances to other banks or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and 
repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the 
effective interest method. Securities lent to counterparties are also retained in the financial 
statements. 
 
Leasing receivables 
Financial lease claims include receivables from financial lease, consumer factoring and 
instalment sale and agreements of payments. A financial lease is a lease transaction where all 
major risks and rights deriving from the use of the leased assets are transferred from the 
leasing firm to the lessee. Legal ownership to the property may be transferred to the lessee at 
the end of the lease period.  
 
The receivables from the financial lease agreements are recognised in net present value of the 
minimum lease payments, from which the payments of principal received have been 
deducted, plus unguaranteed residual value at the end of contract. Lease payments collected 
are allocated between repayment of principal and financial income. Financial income is 
recognised over the rental period based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of 
return on the lessor’s net investment in the financial lease. Initial service fees collected at 
issuance are included into the calculation of effective interest rate and lessor’s net investment. 
Lessor’s direct expenses, related to the contract, are part of effective interest rate and are 
booked as decrease of leasing income over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for 
lease receivables are presented on the respective line of statement of financial position at 
negative value. 
The lease receivable to the client is recognised in the statement of financial position as of the 
moment of delivering the assets being the object of the agreement to the client. In case of 
transactions, in which the assets being the object of the agreement having a long delivery term 
have not yet been delivered to the client, the payments received from the lessees under these 
agreements are recognised in the statement of financial position as prepayments of buyers in 
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on line “Accrued expenses and deferred income”. The amounts paid by the leasing firm for 
the assets under lease agreements not yet delivered are recognise in the statement of financial 
position as prepayments to suppliers on line “Accrued income and prepaid expenses”. 
 
Factoring and warehouse receipt financing receivables 
Factoring transactions are considered to be financing transactions where the leasing firm 
provides the financial resources to its selling partners through transfer of the rights to the 
receivables from these sales transactions. The leasing firm acquires the right for the 
receivables payable by the buyer subject to the sales contract. 
 
Factoring is the transfer of receivables. Depending on the terms of the factoring contract the 
buyer either accepts the transfer of substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of 
the receivable (non-recourse factoring) or retains the right to transfer the risks and rewards 
back to the seller during a pre-specified term (recourse factoring). Transaction is booked as 
financing in case the leasing company does not own all the rights related to claim. The claim 
is booked in statement of financial position until payment is received or recourse is expired. If 
contract does not include seller’s guarantee and leasing company acquires control of all rights 
at the moment of selling the claim, the transactions is booked as acquisition of claim in fair 
value. Subsequently on it is booked in acquisition cost. Derecognition of factoring assets and 
liabilities follows the regulation in IAS 39 and the assessment is made based on each specific 
agreement type and status. 
 
Warehouse receipt financing transactions are financing transactions, where the lease firm 
finances its partners, by granting them a loan against pledged stock reserves. 
 
Factoring and warehouse receipt financing receivables are recorded in the statement of 
financial position at amortised cost, from which the payments of principal claim collected 
have been deducted. Allowances for factoring receivables are presented on the respective line 
of statement of financial position at negative value. The receivable to the client is recognised 
as of the moment of factoring the purchase-sale agreement, i.e. as of assuming the receivable. 
 
Valuation of loans and receivables 
The Group assesses consistently whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss 
event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 
 
For valuation of loans and receivables several risks are prudently considered. AS SEB Pank 
introduced a customer rating system for evaluating corporate loans, corresponding to the 
principles used in Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), the parent bank of AS SEB 
Pank. Valuation of the customer receivables is based on the legal entities financial position, 
situation of the industry, trustworthiness of the borrower, competence of the management of 
the client, timely fulfilment of contractual obligations and other factors, all of which together 
help to assess the value of the receivable and the amount of incurred loss in the portfolio of 
loans. Valuation of loans to private individuals is based on timely fulfilment of contractual 
obligations, solvency and collateral, age, educational status, length of employment, saving 
practices and other factors, affecting the credit risk. 
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The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it 
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment. For the purposes of a collective evaluation 
of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics 
(i.e. on the basis of the Group’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, collateral 
type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the 
estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets. 
 
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment 
are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Group and 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the 
Group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect 
the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss 
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not 
currently exist. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual 
loss experience. 
 
For assessment of loan losses, the expected collections from the loan and interest payments 
over the coming periods are considered, as well as expected collections and anticipated 
proceeds from the realisation of collateral, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred), which together form 
a recoverable amount of the loan and help to assess the amount of loss incurred of the loan. 
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (recoverable amount). For these assessed 
incurred loan losses, the relevant allowance has been established. The carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the income statement. Specific and collective (based on incurred loss estimation 
on the group basis) allowances are provided for individually assessed loans, and group based 
allowances for homogenous loan groups. 
 
In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the 
income statement in “Impairment losses on loans and advances”. 
 
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan 
impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed 
and the amount of the loss has been determined. Loans that are either subject to collective 
impairment assessment or individually significant and whose terms have been renegotiated 
are no longer considered to be past due and are treated as normal loans. 
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More detailed overview of the credit risk management principles is given in Note 2 “Risk 
policy and management” (see page 39). 
 
Interest income on loans is presented on the income statement on line “Interest and similar 
income”. 
 
1.6.2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include: 
• financial assets held for trading 
 
Financial assets held for trading 
This group of financial assets includes securities acquired or incurred principally for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent 
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, and derivatives. 
 
Securities acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term 
This group includes shares and bonds acquired for trading purpose. Trading securities are 
initially recognised at fair value excluding transaction costs on the trade date and are 
subsequently presented in fair value.  
 
The fair value of held for trading securities quoted on an active market are based on current 
mid-prices, because trading portfolio is maintained to enable client trading and assets and 
liabilities to have an offsetting market risk. 
 
The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market for identical assets or 
liabilities. Quoted prices cannot be overlooked without evidence. However, the market 
prices should be adjusted in rare cases if it does not represent fair value at the measurement 
date. 
 
The shares and debt securities not actively traded on an active market are valued in fair value 
according to the last quotation from an acknowledged provider with a presumption that there 
have been regular quotations available for the shares / debt securities and the price volatility 
has been in normal range for similar instruments. If the price is not available from quotations 
or there is no sufficient regularity of the quotations or the volatility of the instrument price 
quotations is outside the normal range, the shares / debt securities are revaluated into fair 
value based on all available information regarding the issuer to benchmark the financial 
instrument price against similar instruments available on active market to determine the fair 
value. For held for trading debt securities, for which the quoted prices from an active market 
are not available, cash flows are discounted at market interest rates, issuer’s risk added. For 
fund participations (units) NAV bid quotation is used for fair value assessment. 
 
In any case, if the market for a financial asset is not active, the Group establishes fair value by 
using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, 
discounted cash flow analysis, benchmarking to another instrument with similar 
characteristics,  reference to recent transactions as long as there has been no significant change 
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in economic circumstances and other valuation techniques commonly used by market 
participants. 
The unrealised and realised result of the trading securities is recorded in income statement 
under “Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. 
 
Dividend income from financial assets that are classified as held for trading, is recognised in 
income statement on line “Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss” when the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 
 
Derivatives 
Derivatives (forward-, swap- and option transactions) are initially recognised at fair value 
excluding transaction costs on the trade date and are subsequently presented at fair value. If 
derivatives are quoted on an active market, market value is used as a fair value. If not, the 
valuation techniques are used to find the fair value. 
 
These transactions are booked in the statement of financial position as assets, if their fair 
value is positive and as liabilities, if the fair value is negative. The fair values of derivative 
assets and liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position are not netted. The Group 
does not apply hedge accounting principles for the accounting of derivative financial 
instruments. 
 
Currency forwards, currency and interest rate swaps are valued by discounting future cash 
flows using market interest rate. Respective interest income and the realised profit and 
unrealised gain / loss from the revaluation of derivatives is recorded in the income statement 
under “Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. 
 
Currency and equity options are revalued to market value, using market price if active market 
exists. If a reliable market value can not be obtained, the fair value of options is calculated by 
using the Black-Scholes model. 
 
1.6.3. Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets, if they do not belong to one of 
the aforementioned categories: financial assets held for trading or other financial assets 
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Available-for-sale investments are intended to 
be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity 
or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices; or investments with strategic 
purpose for long-term holding. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are recorded at fair value plus transaction costs on their 
settlement date. Subsequently they are carried at fair value. If the assessment of fair value is 
not reliable, the securities will be presented at cost. The gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of available for sale financial assets are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income on line “revaluation of available-for-sale financial 
assets”. 
 
The Group assesses consistently whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
available-for-sale is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for- 
sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is 
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considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. Debt instrument is considered to 
be impaired when there is a change in expected cash flows to be collected from the 
instrument. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is 
removed from statement of comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement. 
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed 
through the income statement. In a subsequent period, if the fair value of a debt instrument 
classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss 
is reversed through the income statement. 
 
When the financial asset is derecognised the cumulative gain previously recognised in 
statement of comprehensive income on that specific instrument is to the extent reversed from 
the statement of comprehensive income and the remaining portion is recognised in income 
statement.  
 
Interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign currency gains and losses 
on monetary assets classified as available for sale are recognised in the income statement. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement 
when the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 
 
1.7. Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position only, when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an 
intention to settle on net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
1.8. Tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill 
 
Land, buildings, IT equipment, office equipment and other assets of long-term use are 
recognised in the statement of financial position as tangible non-current assets. Intangible 
assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance and currently comprise 
of acquired software.  
 
Tangible non-current assets and intangible assets are initially recognised at acquisition cost, 
consisting of the purchase price, non-refundable taxes and other direct costs related to taking 
the asset into use. 
 
The subsequent expenditure of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognised 
as an asset if these are in accordance with definition of fixed assets and if it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to other operating expenses during the financial period in which they 
are incurred. 
 
Tangible non-current assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives are subsequently 
stated at historical cost less depreciation / amortisation and any impairment losses. 
Depreciation / amortisation is calculated starting from the month of acquisition until the 
carrying value reaches the residual value of the asset or if that is considered being 
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insignificant the asset is fully depreciated. For assets having a substantial residual value, only 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the residual value is depreciated to expense 
over the useful lifetime of the asset. Assets are depreciated / amortised on straight-line basis. 
 
Depreciation / amortisation calculation is based on useful life of the asset, which serves as 
basis for forming the depreciation / amortisation rates. Buildings are depreciated over 20-50 
years, intangible assets with limited lifetime are amortised over 3-5 years, and other non-
current tangible assets are depreciated over 3-7 years. Land is not depreciated and intangible 
assets with indefinite useful life are not amortised. The appropriateness of 
depreciation / amortisation rates, methods and residual values are each reporting date 
assessed. 
 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment is recorded in the income statement on line 
“Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets”. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. 
These are included in other operating income / expenses in the income statement. 
 
Capitalisation of expenses 
Reconstruction expenditures of bank offices are capitalised as tangible assets and are 
subsequently charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over five years or over 
the period of the lease (if period of the lease is less than five years). 
 
Development costs 
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. 
 
Advertising expenses and the expenses for launching of new products, services and processes 
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Expenditures related to trademarks etc., developed 
by the company itself, are also recorded as expense as incurred. 
 
1.9 . Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets with an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, comparing the carrying value of the asset to its recoverable value. Assets that are 
subject to amortisation / depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In such 
circumstances the recoverable value of the asset is assessed and compared to its carrying 
value. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
 
1.10. Leases – the group is the lessee 
 
Leases of assets where the lessee acquires substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases. 
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Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement date of the lease at the lower of the fair 
value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the repayment of a liability and finance charges (interest 
expense). The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability for each period (effective interest rate method). Tangible non-current assets 
acquired under finance leases are depreciated similarly to acquired assets over the shorter of 
the useful life of the asset or the lease term. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised in income statement as expense over the rental 
period on straight line basis. The Group uses operating lease mainly for renting the 
buildings / premises. Rental expense is recognised in income statement as “Other expenses”. 
 
1.11. Financial liabilities 
 
The classification made can be seen in the table below: 

 
Deposits from credit institutions and customers 
Deposits are recognised in the statement of financial position on their settlement date at fair 
value net of transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective 
interest rate method and recorded on lines “Due to credit institutions” and “Due to 
customers”, accrued interests is presented on a respective lines in liabilities. Interest expenses 
are recorded in the income statement on line “Interest expenses and similar charges”. 
 
Borrowings and issued securities 
Borrowings and issued securities are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs 
(the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred). Borrowings and issued securities are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method; any difference 
between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the 
income statement over the period of the instrument using effective interest rate. 
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the expected stream of future cash 
payments through maturity. The amortisation of the transaction costs is presented in the 

Category (as defined by IAS 39) Class (as determined by the Group)

Corporate customers

Public sector

Private individuals

Loan funds

Contingent liabilities

Loan commitments

Guarantees and other financial facilities

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost

Deposits from credit institutions

Deposits from customers

Debt securities in issue

Subordinated debt

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities held for trading (Derivatives – Non 
Hedging only)

Designated at fair value through profit and loss – 
Debt securities in issue
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income statement together with the interest expenses. The respective interest expenses are 
recorded in the income statement on line “Interest expenses and similar charges”. 
 
In case there is an unused limit for any borrowings, this is presented as contingent asset. 
 
Short-term and termination benefits to employees 
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which 
fall due within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related services. Short-term employee benefits include items such as wages, salaries and 
social security contributions; benefits related to temporary suspension of the employment 
contract (such as vacation pay). 
  
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the 
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 
for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably 
committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a 
detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a 
result of another offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits due more than 12 
months after the reporting date are discounted to present value. 
 
1.12. Embedded derivatives 
 
Embedded derivatives are usually separated from the host contract and accounted for in the 
same way as other derivatives (Note 1.6.2.). Embedded derivatives are not separated, if their 
economic characteristics and risks are closely related to the economic characteristics and risks 
of the host contract. However, in some circumstances also not closely related embedded 
derivatives may be not separated. 
 
Combined instruments (for example index-linked deposits) are separated, so that host contract 
is recognised as deposit and measured at amortised cost using effective interest rate method, 
and embedded derivatives are recognised and measured at fair value. 
 
1.13. Financial guarantee contracts 
 
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments 
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments 
when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are 
given to banks, financial institutions, companies and other bodies on behalf of customers to 
secure loans, other banking facilities and liabilities to other parties.  
 
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value (contract 
value) on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the bank’s 
liabilities under such guarantees are recognised at the outstanding value of guarantee. In the 
income statement the fee income earned on a guarantee is recognised straight-line basis over 
the life of the guarantee. The amounts disbursed to settle the guarantee obligation are 
recognised in the statement of financial position on the date it becomes evident that the 
guarantee is to be disbursed.  
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1.14. Provisions for liabilities and charges 
 
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. The provisions are recognised 
based on the management’s estimates regarding the amount and timing of the expected 
outflows. 
 
When it is probable that the provision is expected to realise later than 12 months after the 
reporting date it is recorded at discounted value (present value of expected outflows), unless 
the discounting effect is immaterial. Expense from provisions and from change in carrying 
value of provisions is recorded in the income statement for the period. 
 
1.15. Revenue recognition 
 
Interest income and expense 
Interest income and expense is recognised in income statement for all interest-bearing 
financial instruments carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest 
income includes also similar income on interest bearing financial instruments classified at fair 
value through profit or loss (i.e. traded bonds etc). 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument, but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all significant 
fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 
 
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result 
of an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount 
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 
 
Fee and commission income 
Revenue is recognised in the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the 
services provided in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Fees and commissions are 
generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided (e.g. payment 
cards related commissions). Credit issuance fees for loans / leases that, are deferred and 
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the credit. Portfolio management 
and other advisory service fees, as well as wealth management and custody service fees are 
recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on an accrual basis. Asset 
management fees related to management of investment funds are recognised over the period 
the service is provided. Performance linked fees or fee components are recognised when the 
performance criteria are fulfilled. 
 
Other transaction fee income and other income are recognised on accrual basis at the moment 
of executing the respective transactions. 
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1.16. Dividend income 
 
Dividends are recognised in the income statement when the entity’s right to receive payment 
is established. 
 
1.17. Recognition of day one profit and loss 
 
The best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value 
of the consideration given or received), unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced 
by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. 
without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable markets.  
Profits on day one can be recognised when a valuation technique is used whose variables 
include data from observable markets. In other circumstances the day one profit is deferred 
over the life of transaction. 
 
The timing of recognition of deferred day one profit and loss is determined individually. It is 
either amortised over the life of the transaction, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can 
be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement. The financial 
instrument (separated embedded derivative) is subsequently measured at fair value, adjusted 
for the deferred day one profit and loss. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised 
immediately in the income statement without reversal of deferred day one profits and losses.  
 
1.18. Share-based payments 
 
Group employees receive compensation through share-based incentive programmes, based on 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) shares. The programmes, now referred to, are the 
Performance Share Programme, Employee Stock Option and the Share Savings Programmes. 
The bookings for expenses related to these programmes and accrued social charges, if 
applicable, are made accordingly. The allocation of this amount implies that profit and loss 
are impacted at the same time as the corresponding increase in equity is recognised. 
 
The Group engages in equity settled share-based payment transactions in respect of services 
received from certain of its employees. The fair value of the services received is measured by 
reference to the fair value of the shares or share options granted on the date of the grant. The 
cost of the employee services received in respect of the shares or share options granted is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the period that the services are received, 
which is the vesting period. 
 
1.19. Taxation 
 
Corporate income tax 
According to the Income Tax Act, the annual profit earned by enterprises is not taxed in 
Estonia and thus there are no temporary differences between the tax bases and carrying values 
of assets and liabilities and no deferred tax assets or liabilities arise. Instead of taxing the net 
profit, the distribution of retained earnings is subject to the taxation at the rate of 21/79 on the 
amount paid out as net dividends. The corporate income tax arising from the payment of 
dividends is accounted for as an expense in the period when dividends are declared, regardless 
of the actual payment date or the period for which the dividends are paid. 
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In Estonia income tax (that is accounted for as income tax cost in P&L) is accounted for only 
in cases when the taxable event occurs (like payment of dividends and payments decreasing 
the equity). Because of the specifics of the Estonian tax system permanent and temporary 
differences are not accounted for and thus effective income tax is not currently accounted for 
as well. 
 
1.20. Fiduciary activities 
 
The Group provides asset management services and offers fund management services. The 
assets owned by third parties, but managed by the Group, and income arising thereon, are 
excluded from these financial statements, as they are not assets of the Group. Commissions 
received from fiduciary activities are shown in fee and commission income. 
 
1.21. New International Financial Reporting Standards, amendments to published 
standards and interpretations by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee 
 
There are no new or revised standards or interpretations that are effective for the first time for 
the financial year beginning on or after 1.01.2012 , that would be expected to have a material 
impact to the Group. 
 

Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for 
the Group’s annual periods beginning on or after 1.01.2013 and which the Group has not early 
adopted. 
 
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income, amendments to IAS 1 (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012). The amendments require entities to 
separate items presented in other comprehensive income into two groups, based on whether or 
not they may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future. The suggested title used by IAS 1 
has changed to ‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’. The Group 
expects the amended standard to change presentation of its financial statements, but have no 
impact on measurement of transactions and balances. 
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments : Classification and Measurement (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015; not yet adopted by the EU). IFRS 9 issued in 
November 2009 replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. IFRS 9 was further amended in October 2010 to address the classification 
and measurement of financial liabilities, and in December 2011 to change its effective date 
and add transition disclosures. Key features of the standard are as follows: 

 Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to 
be measured subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at 
amortised cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition. The classification 
depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.  

 An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument 
and both (i) the objective of the entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and (ii) the asset’s contractual cash flows represent payments of 
principal and interest only (that is, it has only “basic loan features”). All other debt 
instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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 All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments 
that are held for trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all 
other equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition, to 
recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other 
comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair 
value gains and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they 
represent a return on investment.  

 Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The key change is that an entity 
will be required to present the effects of changes in own credit risk of financial 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss in other comprehensive income. 

 The Group is considering the implications of the standard, the impact on the Group and the 
timing of its adoption by the Group. 

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014), replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in IAS 27 
“Consolidated and separate financial statements” and SIC-12 “Consolidation - special purpose 
entities”. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control so that the same criteria are applied to all 
entities to determine control. This definition is supported by extensive application guidance. 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the standard on its financial statements. 

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2014), replaces IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and SIC-13 “Jointly Controlled 
Entities—Non-Monetary Contributions by Ventures”. Changes in the definitions have 
reduced the number of types of joint arrangements to two: joint operations and joint ventures. 
The existing policy choice of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities has 
been eliminated. Equity accounting is mandatory for participants in joint ventures. The Group 
is currently assessing the impact of the standard on its financial statements. 

IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2014), applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint 
arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. IFRS 12 sets out the 
required disclosures for entities reporting under the two new standards: IFRS 10, 
Consolidated financial statements, and IFRS 11, Joint arrangements, and replaces the 
disclosure requirements currently found in IAS 28 “Investments in associates”. IFRS 12 
requires entities to disclose information that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the 
nature, risks and financial effects associated with the entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 
associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities. To meet these 
objectives, the new standard requires disclosures in a number of areas, including (i) 
significant judgements and assumptions made in determining whether an entity controls, 
jointly controls, or significantly influences its interests in other entities, (ii) extended 
disclosures on share of non-controlling interests in group activities and cash flows, (iii) 
summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests, and 
(iv) detailed disclosures of interests in unconsolidated structured entities. The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of the standard on its financial statements. 

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013), aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a revised 
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definition of fair value, and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements for use across IFRSs. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the 
standard on its financial statements. 

IAS 27 (revised 2011), Separate Financial Statements (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014). The objective of the revised standard is to 
prescribe the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate financial statements. The guidance 
on control and consolidated financial statements was replaced by IFRS 10, Consolidated 
Financial Statements. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on 
its financial statements. 

Amended IAS 19, Employee Benefits (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013), makes significant changes (i) to the recognition and measurement of defined 
benefit pension expense and termination benefits, and (ii) to the disclosures for all employee 
benefits. The standard requires recognition of all changes in the net defined benefit liability 
(asset) when they occur, as follows: (i) service cost and net interest in profit or loss; and (ii) 
remeasurements in other comprehensive income. The Group is currently assessing the impact 
of the amended standard on its financial statements. 

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IAS 32 (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014). The amendment added application 
guidance to IAS 32 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting 
criteria. This includes clarifying the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of 
set-off’ and that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net 
settlement. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group and 
the timing of its adoption by the Group. 

Disclosures—Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IFRS 
7 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). The amendment 
requires disclosures that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the 
effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off. The amendment 
will have an impact on disclosures but will have no effect on measurement and recognition of 
financial instruments. 

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards, issued in May 2012 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013; not yet adopted by the 
EU). The improvements consist of changes to five standards. IFRS 1 was amended to (i) 
clarify that an entity that resumes preparing its IFRS financial statements may either 
repeatedly apply IFRS 1 or apply all IFRSs retrospectively as if it had never stopped applying 
them, and (ii) to add an exemption from applying IAS 23, Borrowing costs, retrospectively by 
first-time adopters. IAS 1 was amended to clarify that explanatory notes are not required to 
support the third balance sheet presented at the beginning of the preceding period when it is 
provided because it was materially impacted by a retrospective restatement, changes in 
accounting policies or reclassifications for presentation purposes, while explanatory notes will 
be required when an entity voluntarily decides to provide additional comparative statements.  
IAS 16 was amended to clarify that servicing equipment that is used for more than one period 
is classified as property, plant and equipment rather than inventory.  IAS 32 was amended to 
clarify that certain tax consequences of distributions to owners should be accounted for in the 
income statement as was always required by IAS 12. IAS 34 was amended to bring its 
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requirements in line with IFRS 8. IAS 34 will require disclosure of a measure of total assets 
and liabilities for an operating segment only if such information is regularly provided to chief 
operating decision maker and there has been a material change in those measures since the 
last annual financial statements. 

Transition Guidance - Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, earlier application is required if the 
underlying standards (IFRSs 10, 11 and 12) are early-adopted; not yet adopted by the EU). 
The amendments clarify the transition guidance in IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Entities adopting IFRS 10 should assess control at the first day of the annual 
period in which IFRS 10 is adopted, and if the consolidation conclusion under IFRS 10 differs 
from IAS 27 and SIC 12, the immediately preceding comparative period (that is, year 2012 
for a calendar year-end entity that adopts IFRS 10 in 2013) is restated, unless impracticable. 
The amendments also provide additional transition relief in IFRS 10, IFRS 11, Joint 
Arrangements, and IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, by limiting the 
requirement to provide adjusted comparative information only for the immediately preceding 
comparative period. Further, the amendments will remove the requirement to present 
comparative information for disclosures related to unconsolidated structured entities for 
periods before IFRS 12 is first applied. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the 
amendments on its financial statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 - Investment entities (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014; not yet adopted by the EU). The amendment 
introduced a definition of an investment entity as an entity that (i) obtains funds from 
investors for the purpose of providing them with investment management services, (ii) 
commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for capital 
appreciation or investment income and (iii) measures and evaluates its investments on a fair 
value basis. An investment entity will be required to account for its subsidiaries at fair value 
through profit or loss, and to consolidate only those subsidiaries that provide services that are 
related to the entity's investment activities. IFRS 12 was amended to introduce new 
disclosures, including any significant judgements made in determining whether an entity is an 
investment entity and information about financial or other support to an unconsolidated 
subsidiary, whether intended or already provided to the subsidiary. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of the amendments on its financial statements. 

There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that are not yet effective that 
would be expected to have a material impact on the Group. 
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2. Risk policy and management   
 
2.1. Risk policy and structure 
 
Managing risk is a core activity in a bank and therefore fundamental to long-term profitability 
and stability. Risk is closely related to business activities and business development and, 
therefore, to customer needs. Of the various risks that SEB assumes in providing its customers 
with financial solutions and products, credit risk is the most significant.  
 
SEB’s profitability is directly dependent upon its ability to evaluate, manage and price the 
risks encountered, while maintaining an adequate capitalization to meet unforeseen events. To 
secure the Group’s financial stability, risk and capital-related issues are identified, monitored 
and managed at an early stage. They also form an integral part of the long-term strategic 
planning and operational business planning processes performed throughout the Group. 
 
AS SEB Pank defines risk as the possibility of a negative deviation from an expected financial 
outcome. Risk management includes all activities relating to risk-taking, risk mitigation, risk 
analysis, risk control and follow-up. Independent risk control comprises the identification, 
measurement, monitoring, stress testing, analysis, reporting and follow-up of risks, separate 
from the risk-taking functions. 
 
The risks arising from financial instruments to which the Group is exposed are financial risks, 
which include credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and operational risk (which are discussed 
below). 
 
The Management Board is responsible for establishing the main principles for management, 
control and co-ordination of all risks of AS SEB Pank and to decide on the limits for the 
various risks. Subordinated to the Management Board are established different committees 
with mandates to make decisions depending upon the type of risk. Board supervision, an 
explicit decision-making structure, a high level risk awareness among staff, common 
definitions and principles and controlled risk-taking within established limits are the 
cornerstones of SEB’s risk and capital management. 
 
Risk management and control is a prioritised area for the Group, continuously under 
development. Since 2008 AS SEB Pank holds supervisory approvals to use its internal models 
for calculating regulatory capital: Internal Rating Based (IRB) approach for credit risk and 
Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) for operational risk. During last years, the main 
development focus of risk management has been continuous improvement of implemented 
Basel II models and preparations for the new regulatory regime – Basel III.  
 
In 2012 one of the most important development projects was a project for preparation to 
switchover to internal credit risk models in non-retail asset class. In the market risk control 
area an enhanced SEB Group’s ARMS risk model was taken into use to calculate value-at-
risk (VaR).  
 
SEB has developed a comprehensive stress testing framework covering all main risks and 
with particular focus on the risk of credit losses which contrasts key economic criteria from 
recession scenarios with historical economic factors underlying the data used in the average 
through-the-cycle credit models. The projected risk level in the Group is related to annual 
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earnings and available capital resources. In the stressed scenarios, projected earnings are 
lowered, credit losses are increased both for individually and collectively assessed loans and 
capital requirements for the credit portfolios are increased due to worse average risk classes. 
The stress testing framework uses both internal and external default and loss data in concert 
with historical macro- and microeconomic data to simulate an effect on the Group’s current 
portfolio. In this way, the sensitivity of different parts of the portfolio can be identified which 
enables the Group to manage risk more effectively.  
 
2.2. Credit risk 
 
Assets exposed to credit risk are receivables from customers, receivables from credit 
institutions and debt securities and derivatives. Credit risk is a potential loss that may occur in 
case of improper fulfilment or non-compliance of the client with the contractual obligations as 
a result of failure of the client’s business operations or other factors. 
 
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Group’s business; management therefore carefully 
manages its exposure to credit risk. The principles for measuring and taking credit risk are 
established with the SEB Pank Group credit policy. 
 
The principles of credit policy are the following: 
a) lending should be in line with credit policy; 
b) lending should be based upon analysis; 
c) the basis of all lending activity is credibility; 
d) the purpose of the credit should be fully understood; 
e) lending must be in proportion to the capacity to repay; 
f) borrower should have an identified source of repayment and also a secondary source for 

repaying the loan; 
g) the own (equity) investment of the borrower must be significant in relationship to the loan; 
h) lending activity shall take into account any potential adverse effects in the business cycle; 
i) lending shall be in line with the bank’s profit goals. 
 
Credit risk analysis related to a certain client involves several different activities, like 
evaluation of the risk of the borrower’s background, structure, management and owner, 
industry and position of the borrower in that industry, economic environment and position of 
the borrower, analysis and evaluation of the business plan and submitted cash flow prognosis; 
evaluation of the reputation, reliability and credit history of the client. Deciding on the risk 
taking is performed collegially by credit committees or by the authorised persons in 
accordance with the decision-making limits established by the bank’s management. 
 
Deciding on the risk taking in debt securities is part of general credit decision making process. 
Limit for investing into certain issuer’s debt securities has to be approved by relevant credit 
committee or by the authorised persons. Normally AS SEB Pank is not taking investment 
positions, including credit risk bearing positions in debt securities, excluding limited volume 
of trading portfolio, which is regulated by trading portfolio total limit established by the 
Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). Credit risk related to debt securities is considered 
low in volume and has therefore not been discussed in detail below.  
 
AS SEB Pank enters into derivatives contracts primarily to offer clients products for 
management of their financial exposures and then manages the resulting positions by entering 
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offsetting contracts with the parent company. Positive market values in derivatives contracts 
imply a credit exposure on the counterparty; to reflect also future uncertainty in market 
conditions, a credit risk equivalent is calculated. Credit risk related to derivatives has not been 
assessed significant and not discussed in further detail below. So we concentrate on credit risk 
arising from loans and receivables from customers and credit institutions (other banks). 
 
Credit risk measurement 
The prime credit risk measure of AS SEB Pank is defined as the maximum potential loss over 
a certain time horizon at a certain level of confidence. Credit risk is being quantified monthly 
using the following components: Probability of Default (PD), Exposure At Default (EAD) and 
Loss Given Default (LGD) or the aggregate measure Risk Weighted Assets (RWA).  
 
Having estimated PD, EAD and LGD it is possible to calculate expected loss and unexpected 
loss.  
 
Expected loss (EL) can be interpreted as the “normal level” of credit losses and shall be 
considered as a cost of doing business from a risk point of view. Thus it shall be covered 
through transaction pricing and risk reserves. Appropriate efforts shall be made to minimise 
expected losses through ensuring sound internal practices and good internal controls.  
 
Unexpected losses (UL) are commonly referred to as the unusual and large credit losses and 
are not foreseen to be completely absorbed by day to day transaction profits. The primary 
protections against such losses are sound internal practices, good internal controls, insurance 
policies and earnings. The last loss-absorbing resource for unexpected losses is the capital of 
AS SEB Pank. 
 
PD is a measure of probability of default of a given counterparty risk class during the next 
year, through it’s risk classification, pooling or rating.  
 
LGD is an estimate, expressed as a fraction of EAD, of the expected amount of loss in case of 
counterparty default. The LGD estimates used depend among other things on if it is a secured 
or unsecured exposure, type of collateral and seniority of the exposure.  
 
Conceptually EAD consists of two parts, the current exposure and an estimate of potential 
future exposure at the time of default. Estimation of potential future drawdowns of available 
but unused credit commitments are known as credit conversion factors (CCFs). Since the CCF 
is the only random or uncertain portion of EAD, estimating EAD amounts to estimating these 
CCFs. 
 
Credit risks are mainly measured on two levels – on portfolio and exposure level.  
 
For verifying the loan portfolio’s exposure to credit risk, AS SEB Pank uses a portfolio 
diversification method. The division of financial obligations is monitored by different client 
segments, products, clients and industries. The Credit Area performs monthly analysis on the 
credit risk of loan portfolio and informs the bank’s managing bodies of the results. These 
results are discussed as well as any need for specific attention to or specific analysis for any 
identified issues. 
In respect to individual clients the bank prepares regular (annual, quarterly or if needed more 
often) analyses on the borrowers’ situation as well as their risk level. The analyses are based 
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on annual and quarterly reports and on cash flow prognosis, on basis of which the financial 
situation is evaluated, as well as on credit history and information originating from other 
sources. Evaluation of the borrowers’ reliability is of critical importance. 
 
AS SEB Pank divides loan portfolio into two broad segments:  
A) corporate portfolio including loans to legal entities belonging to counterparty group’s with 
credit risk assumed by SEB Pank Group exceeding 500,000 EUR  (2011: 500,000 EUR) and  
B) retail portfolio consisting of small corporates’ and private individuals’ sub-segments.  
 
Based on the results of the analysis, the corporate clients are divided into sixteen risk classes 
in accordance with the AS SEB Pank risk classification system. Sixteen risk classes belong to 
5 quality classes of businesses.  
 
At the end of 2012 the corporate portfolio amounted to 41% of total loan portfolio (2011: 
39%). 
 
According to the risk classification system the risk class assignment is not required for 
companies or a group of companies with credit risk assumed by the SEB Pank Group less 
than 500,000 EUR (2011: 500,000 EUR) i.e. small corporates belonging to retail portfolio. 
Scoring model is used for evaluation of these borrowers.  
 
The scoring model for small corporates considers financial condition based on last two annual 
reports, last interim report and next year prognosis, credit history with the bank and based on 
external credit history register, experience of the customer. The analyst evaluates correctness 
and quality of the information. The risk level of particular industry has a certain level of 
impact as well. The outcome of the scoring model is credit score, expressing risk level and 
determining decision-making level. Depending on the score clients are divided into quality 
classes A, B, C and D, where A is the best and D is the worst quality class. Small corporates 
amounted to 7% of the total portfolio as of end of 2012 (2011: 6%). 
 
In analysing loans to private individuals the credit scoring and left-to-live model (this 
measures the customer’s ability to service the loan taking into account net income and cost of 
living) is used. The model considers among other matters credit history, income, age, 
employment conditions and the value of real estate owned. The output of the model is credit 
score and lending recommendation derived the score. Based on the score the clients are 
divided into quality classes A, B, and C, where A is the best and C is the worst quality class. 
Private individuals amounted to 45% of the total portfolio as of end of 2012 (2011: 44%).  
 
The remaining 7% of portfolio amounted advances to credit institutions (2011: 10%). 
 
Credit risk monitoring and mitigation 
Review of the situation and risk level of legal entities is performed on regular basis, 
depending on the client segment, the risk class assigned previously and any additional 
information available to the bank at least once a year. During the review the bank assesses the 
client’s financial condition, risk level, regularity of fulfilling existing financial obligations and 
need for financing. As an important outcome, a risk class is updated for all the corporate 
portfolio clients and groups which shall be valid usually for one year. Risk classes 13-16 are 
regarded as Watch-list and separately reviewed at least on quarterly bases.  
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The distribution of non-retail portfolio by the quality classes is given in the next table. 
 

 
For regular monitoring of private individuals and small corporates - retail portfolio - the 
behavioural scoring models are in use. The models are based on the application scoring 
models used in loans analysis process. In behavioural scoring there is used a separate quality 
class E for defaulted clients’ exposures and an additional class N for small corporates’ 
exposures to whom according to the bank’s assessment there is not enough information to 
assign any other class. Part of the information (payment behaviour, financial situation of the 
small corporate) is updated regularly (monthly, quarterly), partly is used older available 
information. Client executives have an obligation to update financials of small corporates at 
least once a year. Behavioural score is calculated monthly for all private individuals and small 
corporates loans. The distribution of retail portfolio by quality classes is given in the next 
table. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Score Business quality class %  of scored portfolio
A 31.12.12 31.12.11
B Ordinary Business 80.9% 77.5%
C Special Observation 13.9% 16.0%
D Default 4.7% 6.1%
E Default Insufficient information 0.5% 0.4%
N Insufficient information Total 100.0% 100.0%

Special Observation

Ordinary Business

Retail portfolio by behavioral 
scores

Risk class Business quality class
1
2 31.12.12 31.12.11
3 Ordinary Business 77.7% 64.1%
4 Restricted Business 8.0% 11.1%
5 Special Observation 6.5% 10.6%
6 Watch-list 4.1% 7.9%
7 Default 3.4% 6.1%
8 Insufficient information 0.3% 0.2%
9 Total 100.0% 100.0%
10
11 Restricted Business
12 Special Observation
13
14
15
16 Default

Watch-list

Ordinary Business

%  of rated portfolioCorporate Portfolio by risk 
classes
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Primary responsibility for monitoring the quality of specific client and its loans lies with 
client executives, who should inform immediately their department head and if necessary the 
credit area management of occurred problems and accordingly take necessary measures for 
identification and minimisation of potential credit losses. Review of the situation and risk 
level of small corporates is performed by client executives on regular basis and at least once a 
year. During the review of the client’s financial condition, risk level and regularity of 
fulfilling existing financial obligations is assessed.  
 
Collateral 
In order to diminish credit risk the bank has established a requirement for the borrowers to 
provide the bank with collateral in the form of registered immovable property, registered 
movable property and/or personal sureties as security. The group has implemented guidelines 
on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral on credit risk mitigation. The principles 
for granting an unsecured loan are stated in the credit policy and this kind of lending is clearly 
limited and restricted. 
 
The pledged assets have to be insured throughout the loan period in an insurance company 
accepted by the bank at least for the restoration value. In case of a housing loan also life 
insurance is required, if the borrower is contributing majority to the family’s income. The 
aforementioned measures help to control and manage the credit risk as they serve as an 
alternative source for collecting the loan, in case the borrower is not able to repay the loan 
from primary cash flow.  

Loans and advances to customers and credit institutions by quality classes (gross)
(millions of EUR)

31.12.12
Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals TOTAL
Ordinary Business 291.4 1,164.7 175.0 1,316.2 204.2 3,151.5
Restricted Business 0.0 151.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 151.9
Special Observation 0.0 209.5 0.0 175.7 24.4 409.6
Watch-list 0.0 77.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 77.0
Default 0.0 78.6 0.0 76.7 6.4 161.7
Not Classified 0.0 16.8 0.3 0.0 0.0 17.1
Accrued Interests 0.0 1.6 0.2 1.5 1.4 4.7
Deferred Origination Fees 0.0 -3.4 -0.1 -1.0 -1.1 -5.6

291.4 1,696.7 175.4 1,569.1 235.3 3,967.9

31.12.11
Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals TOTAL
Ordinary Business 422.3 974.3 167.1 1,293.4 196.7 3,053.8
Restricted Business 0.0 175.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 175.9
Special Observation 0.0 277.5 0.0 196.1 27.9 501.5
Watch-list 0.0 125.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 125.1
Default 0.0 120.2 0.0 90.0 12.7 222.9
Not Classified 0.0 11.7 0.3 0.0 0.0 12.0
Accrued Interests 0.7 2.7 0.3 2.6 1.5 7.8
Deferred Origination Fees 0.0 -2.6 -0.1 -1.0 -0.8 -4.5

423.0 1,684.8 167.6 1,581.1 238.0 4,094.5
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Client executives have an obligation to review collateral values at least once a year and update 
if necessary. Collateral values of living spaces and land are being adjusted with indexes 
calculated in-house based on transaction statistics of Estonian Land Board.  
 
Impairment and allowance policies 
The internal rating system is primarily used to measure one of the major sources of risk that 
drives the occurrence of lending losses - the risk that the counterparty will default on its 
payment obligations, being probability of default. This is distinct from the risk of loss finally 
arising after all attempts to recover payments from defaulted counterparties. 
 
The internal rating systems described in “Credit risk monitoring and mitigation” focus on 
expected credit losses - that is, taking into account the risk of future events giving rise to 
losses. In contrast, impairment allowances are recognised for financial reporting purposes 
only for losses that have been incurred at the date of the consolidated statement of financial 
position based on objective evidence of impairment. Due to the different methodologies 
applied, the amount of incurred credit losses provided for in the financial statements is usually 
lower than the amount determined from the expected loss model that is used for internal 
operational management and banking regulation purposes. 
 
The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists under IAS 39, based on the following criteria set out by the Group: 

 delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest; 
 cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, operating income 

or EBITDA margin, debt service coverage etc); 
 breach of loan covenants or conditions; 
 initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;  
 deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position. 

 
The SEB Pank Group’s policy requires that all exposures above 500,000 euro are reviewed 
individually at least annually (see above). Impairment allowances on individually assessed 

Loans against collateral
(millions of EUR)

31.12.12 31.12.11
Mortgage, real estate 2,552.3 2,591.7
Securities and deposits 23.2 13.0
Guarantee by state, central bank or municipality 215.4 218.3
Guarantee by credit institutions 291.4 422.3
Unsecured loans* 134.2 180.7
Repos with customers (securities as collateral) 0.1 0.1
Factoring (receivables as collateral) 63.6 48.0
Leasing (leased assets as collateral) 387.3 370.6
Other (floating charges, vehicles, warranties, other) 295.7 242.0
Accrued interest receivable 4.7 7.8
Allowances -91.2 -131.0
TOTAL** 3,876.7 3,963.5

* Includes credit cards and other unsecured loans.

** Includes loans and advances to customers and credit institutions (Notes 14, 15) by type of the main 
collateral.
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accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at reporting date on a case-by-
case basis, and are applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment also 
encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of its enforceability) and the 
anticipated receipts for that individual account. Collectively assessed impairment allowances 
are provided for:  
(i) portfolios of homogenous assets that are individually below materiality thresholds; and  
(ii) losses that have been incurred but have not yet been identified, by using the available 
historical experience, experienced judgement and statistical techniques.  
 
Credit officers in credit department and risk managers in head office perform regular in-depth 
monitoring of the quality of the loan portfolio. Also the banks’ internal audit carries out 
reviews on valuation of the loan portfolio. During the control for adherence to procedures, 
availability of required information and documents, regularity of loan servicing (repayments), 
adequacy of collateral and other factors influencing the risks is verified.  
 
Impaired loans 
A loan should be classified as impaired if it is probable that the contractual payments will not 
be fulfilled and the expected proceeds available from the realisation of the collateral do not 
cover both principal and accrued interest including penalty fees, i.e. the recoverable amount 
from expected future cash flows (including from realisation of collateral) discounted using 
original effective interest rate  (if the loan has floating interest rate then the rate used for the 
current interest period adjusted by origination fees) is less than the carrying amount. In these 
cases all the borrower’s loans in the SEB Pank Group shall be considered for impairment, 
unless there are specific reasons calling for a different evaluation. 
 
Impaired loans are classified to the following two groups: 

 Impaired non-performing loans: The loan is past due and the expected cash flow from 
the realisation of the collateral does not cover both principal and accrued interest and 
penalty fees; 

 Impaired performing loans: AS SEB Pank has determined that the expected cash flow 
from the realisation of the collateral does not cover both principal and accrued interest 
and penalty fee and there has been identified an incurred loss event, but no payments 
are yet past due more than 60 days. 

 
Provided, during the valuation of the loan it becomes evident that the collection of the loan or 
part of it is doubtful and the collateral is insufficient for covering the loan amount together 
with accrued interest and penalties, an impairment loss is to be recognised and allowance will 
be established for the loan. Specific and collective allowances are established for individually 
appraised loans and separate collective allowances used for homogeneous groups of loans 
appraised on a homogenous group level. The purpose is to calculate and present the value of 
the loan portfolio as fairly and objectively as possible based on the future discounted cash 
flow expectation. 
 
Problem loans and recovering written-off loans are handled by Special Credit Management 
Division by using several methods: negotiations with clients, rehabilitation, execution, 
bankruptcy proceedings. Special Credit Management Division specialists are involved with 
problem loans (or potential problem loans) at the early stage to ensure most valuable outcome 
for both the client and the bank. 
 



 
 
 
 
AS SEB Pank, Annual Report 2012                                                                                                  
   

 

 - 47 - 

Allowances for credit losses related to on-balance sheet items are provided either specific, 
collective or on homogenous group basis. The total impairment allowance for loans and 
advances as at 31.12.2012 is 91.2 EUR mio (2011: 131.0 EUR mio) of which 36.8 EUR mio 
(2011: 61.8 EUR mio) represents the allowance for individually impaired loans and the 
remaining amount of 54.4 (2011: 69.2 EUR mio) represents collective and homogenous 
groups allowances. 
 
At the end of 2012 collective allowances included also additional collective allowance in 
amount of 4.8 EUR mio (2011: 6.0 EUR mio). The amount of additional collective allowance 
is calculated based on SEB Group model for credit losses for exposures to customers in risk 
class 1-12 (IBNI model), which estimates Incurred But Not Identified loss events. 
 
SEB Group Retail Provisioning Model’s principles were used to determine homogenous 
groups’ allowances. The calculated incurred loss levels for specific product groups were 
adjusted by expert opinion taking into account non-performing loans levels for these product 
groups and duration of debts which additionally reflect portfolio quality.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2012
Credit-

institutions
Loans to 

Corporates
Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other 
loans to 
Private 

individuals TOTAL
Over-collateralised assets 0 39.5 0 0 0 39.5
Under-collateralised assets 0 105.5 0 0 0 105.5

Fair value of collateral 0 61.9 0 0 0 61.9

2011
Credit-

institutions
Loans to 

Corporates
Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other 
loans to 
Private 

individuals TOTAL

Over-collateralised assets 0 37.8 0 0 0 37.8
Under-collateralised assets 0 192.2 0 0 0 192.2

Fair value of collateral 0 107.5 0 0 0 107.5

Financial effect of collateral, individually assessed loans and contingent liabilities, gross 
(Watch-list or Default clients)*

* The effect of collateral is not taken into account if client risk class is 1-12, because these liabilities are 
presumed to be fulfilled from primary cash flow.



 
 
 
 
AS SEB Pank, Annual Report 2012                                                                                                  
   

 

 - 48 - 

 

Loans and advances to customers and credit institutions by classes 
(millions of EUR) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Individually impaired loans and allowances
(millions of EUR) 31.12.12 31.12.11

Impaired, non-performing loans 51.0 85.6
Impaired, performing loans 3.0 3.6

Total individually impaired loans 54.0 89.2
Specific allowances -36.8 -61.8
Collective allowances on individually assessed loans -2.0 -7.8
Collective allowances for homogeneous groups -47.9 -55.4

Other collective allowances for incurred but not identified losses -4.5 -6.0

Total allowances -91.2 -131.0

Specific allowance ratio (Specific allowances / Individually impaired loans) 68% 69%

Ratio of impaired loans (Individually impaired loans / Loans to customers and 
credit institutions) 1.39% 2.25%

31.12.12
Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals TOTAL

1) Neither past due nor impaired 291.4 1,597.4 174.4 1,459.7 222.7 3,745.6
Ordinary Business 291.4 1,159.5 174.1 1,313.0 202.6 3,140.6
Restricted Business 0.0 151.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 151.3
Special Observation 0.0 203.9 0.0 134.7 19.5 358.1
Watch-list 0.0 66.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 66.3
Default 0.0 0.8 0.0 12.0 0.6 13.4
Not classified 0.0 15.6 0.3 0.0 0.0 15.9

2) Past due, but not impaired 0.0 47.1 0.9 108.9 12.3 169.2

3) Individually impaired 0.0 54.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 54.0
4) Accrued interests 0.0 1.6 0.2 1.5 1.4 4.7
5) Deferred origination fees 0.0 -3.4 -0.1 -1.0 -1.1 -5.6
Total gross 291.4 1,696.7 175.4 1,569.1 235.3 3,967.9
Specific allowances 0.0 -36.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 -36.8
Collective allowances 0.0 -6.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 -6.5
Group allowances (homogeneous) 0.0 -11.0 0.0 -30.3 -6.6 -47.9
Total net of allowances 291.4 1,642.4 175.4 1,538.8 228.7 3,876.7
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31.12.11
Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals TOTAL

1) Neither past due nor impaired 422.3 1,543.9 166.9 1,450.4 218.7 3,802.2
Ordinary Business 422.3 970.9 166.6 1,290.3 195.4 3,045.5
Restricted Business 0.0 175.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 175.4
Special Observation 0.0 268.7 0.0 144.8 22.1 435.6
Watch-list 0.0 113.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 113.6
Default 0.0 3.9 0.0 15.3 1.2 20.4
Not classified 0.0 11.4 0.3 0.0 0.0 11.7

2) Past due, but not impaired 0.0 51.6 0.5 129.1 18.6 199.8

3) Individually impaired 0.0 89.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 89.2
4) Accrued interests 0.7 2.7 0.3 2.6 1.5 7.8
5) Deferred origination fees 0.0 -2.6 -0.1 -1.0 -0.8 -4.5
Total gross 423.0 1,684.8 167.6 1,581.1 238.0 4,094.5
Specific allowances 0.0 -61.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 -61.8
Collective allowances 0.0 -13.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 -13.8

Group allowances (homogeneous) 0.0 -14.0 0.0 -33.7 -7.7 -55.4
Total net of allowances 423.0 1,595.2 167.6 1,547.4 230.3 3,963.5

Quality of loans by classes
(millions of EUR)

31.12.12
Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals TOTAL
Normal loans 291.4 1,644.5 175.3 1,568.6 235.0 3,914.8
Impaired non-performing* 0.0 51.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 51.0
Impaired performing** 0.0 3.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0
Accrued interest receivable 0.0 1.6 0.2 1.5 1.4 4.7
Deferred origination fees 0.0 -3.4 -0.1 -1.0 -1.1 -5.6

291.4 1,696.7 175.4 1,569.1 235.3 3,967.9
Specific allowances 0.0 -36.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 -36.8

Collective and group allowances 0.0 -17.5 0.0 -30.3 -6.6 -54.4
291.4 1,642.4 175.4 1,538.8 228.7 3,876.7

31.12.11
Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals TOTAL
Normal loans 422.3 1,595.5 167.4 1,579.5 237.3 4,002.0
Impaired non-performing* 0.0 85.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 85.6
Impaired performing** 0.0 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.6
Accrued interest receivable 0.7 2.7 0.3 2.6 1.5 7.8
Deferred origination fees 0.0 -2.6 -0.1 -1.0 -0.8 -4.5

423.0 1,684.8 167.6 1,581.1 238.0 4,094.5
Specific allowances 0.0 -61.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 -61.8

Collective and group allowances 0.0 -27.8 0.0 -33.7 -7.7 -69.2
423.0 1,595.2 167.6 1,547.4 230.3 3,963.5
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* Impaired non-performing loan: The loan is past due and the expected cash flow from the 
realisation of the collateral does not cover both principal and accrued interest and penalty 
fees. 
 
** Impaired performing loan: The bank has determined that the expected cash flow from the 
realisation of the collateral does not cover both principal and accrued interest and penalty fee 
and there has been identified an incurred loss event, but no payments are yet past due more 
than 60 days. 
 
Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a 
financial asset being past due put not impaired. Therefore loans and advances less than 60 
days past due are not usually considered impaired, unless other information is available to 
indicate the contrary. Also not all impaired loans and advances are past due. 
 
 
Past due by maturity period of overdue by classes 
(millions of EUR) 
 

 
 
The table indicates the total exposure of the credit where part is overdue as of 31.12.12. 
 
Group is calculating interest income from loans with 60 days or more overdue based on cash 
received. Until 60 days overdue limit has not been breached interest income is recognized 
continuously based on contractual rate. The difference comparing to full effective interest 
income recognition was estimated for 2012 and 2011 to result in immaterial misstatement. 
 
 

31.12.12 Credit insti- 
tutions Corporates

Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals

Accrued 
interest 

receivable TOTAL
< 30 days 0.0 19.6 0.9 51.3 5.4 0.4 77.6
       incl. impaired 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3
30 < 60 days 0.0 8.0 0.0 9.4 1.1 0.0 18.5
       incl. impaired 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2
over 60 days 0.0 73.0 0.0 48.2 5.8 4.5 131.5
       incl. impaired 0.0 51.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 51.0

0.0 100.6 0.9 108.9 12.3 4.9 227.6

31.12.11 Credit insti- 
tutions Corporates

Public 
sector

Housing 
loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals

Accrued 
interest 

receivable TOTAL
< 30 days 0.0 19.1 0.5 58.8 5.8 0.2 84.4
       incl. impaired 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2
30 < 60 days 0.0 5.7 0.0 10.1 1.4 0.1 17.3
       incl. impaired 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4
over 60 days 0.0 113.8 0.0 60.3 11.4 7.1 192.6
       incl. impaired 0.0 85.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 85.4

0.0 138.6 0.5 129.2 18.6 7.4 294.3
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Large exposures contain due from central bank, credit institutions or customers (loans, 
interests, securities) and off-balance sheet commitments to central bank, credit institutions or 
customers, which may turn into claims. 
 
The following is deducted from large exposures: 
- claims to the parent company of the bank and their subsidiaries which are under the 
consolidated supervision of financial inspections of concerned states; 
- state guaranteed study loans (credit risk 0%); 
- due from central bank, central government and government authorities, which belong to a 
group with credit risk considered at 0%. 
 
Large credit risk exposure is defined by the Credit Institutions Law and is the total exposure 
of one party or related parties to the group which exceeds 10% of the group's net own funds, 
71.2 EUR mio as at 31.12.2012 (69.0 EUR mio as at 31.12.2011), see Note 2.8. All 
instruments where credit risk may arise to the group are taken into consideration. The limit of 
the total exposure of one party or related parties is 25%. As of 31.12.2012 the SEB Pank 
Group had 5 large risk exposures (4 large risk exposures in 31.12.2011). Total exposure of 
any group of related parties did not exceed the limit of 25%. 
 
 
 
 

(millions of EUR)
31.12.12 31.12.11

Loans and advances to credit institutions and central bank 482.4 472.5
Loans and advances to customers 3,676.5 3,671.5
Financial assets held for trading

Debt securities 0.1 1.3
Derivative financial instruments 21.3 19.7

Other assets 31.2 19.4
4,211.5 4,184.4

Exposures related to off-balance sheet items and guarantees 1,023.9 707.7

Maximum exposure 5,235.4 4,892.1

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other enhancements

Large exposures 31.12.12 31.12.11

Number/ 
Amount

%  from net 
own funds

Number/ 
Amount

%  from net 
own funds

Number of customers with large exposures 5 - 4 -

Due from customers with large exposures (EUR mio) 355.2 49.90 269.0 38.98

Due from management board members and related 
persons (EUR mio) 1.0 0.14 1.3 0.19

356.2 50.04 270.3 39.16

Own funds included in calculation of capital adequacy 711.8 690.3

(see page 67)
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2.3. Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk of loss or reduction of future net income following changes in interest 
rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and commodity prices, including price risk in 
connection with the sale of assets or closing of positions. 
 
Market risk may arise from the bank’s activity at the financial markets and it has an impact on 
the majority of bank products: loans, deposits, securities, credit lines. SEB Pank Group 
measures the risks using different methods of risk valuation and management pursuant to the 
type of risk. Important role in risk prevention is diversification of risk assets and limitation for 
trading positions. 
 
Maximum limits approved by the committees, which are in compliance with the limits set by 
the Bank of Estonia, form the basis for controlling and monitoring the risk of various 
instrument portfolios. 
 
For positions related to market risk nominal limits are applied, which are monitored by 
trading portfolios on daily basis by Risk Control. Any limit breach shall be reported in 
accordance with the market risk regulations. In addition to the aforementioned, also scenario 
analysis is applied in market risk management, which is used for valuing the performance of 
trading positions in case of more extreme fluctuations in market variables. Stress tests can 
also be a tool in the limit setting process. 
 
The overall market risks are measured by the Value at Risk (VaR) approach based on 
historical simulation and market risk type specific measures. Group wide measures should 
cover the following risk factors: interest rates, currencies, equities, commodities, credit 
spread, inflation and volatilities. 
 
VaR is defined as a maximum potential loss that can arise with a certain degree of probability 
during a certain period of time. The Group has chosen a probability level of 99% and a ten-
day holding period for monitoring and reporting VaR in the trading book and the banking 
book. In the day-to-day risk management of trading positions, SEB Pank Group follows up 
limits with a 1-day time horizon. VaR model enables to effectively measure market risks 
associated with different instruments and the results are homogeneously comparable. Banking 
book ten-day average VaR in 2012 was 0.63 EUR mio (2011: 0.5 EUR mio), mainly arising 
from interest rate risk. AS SEB Pank’s trading portfolio market risk is relatively small, mainly 
arising from FX trading. Average trading portfolio 1 day VaR in 2012 was 0.03 EUR mio 
(2011: 0.02 EUR mio). Actual outcomes are monitored regularly to test the validity of 
assumptions and factors used in VaR calculation. The use of this approach does not prevent 
losses outside of these limits in the event of more significant market movements. 
 
Value at  Risk (10 day) 
(millions of EUR)     

        Min      Max 31.12.12
Average  

2012 
Average  

2011 

Trading book 0.0 0.28 0.06 0.09 0.10
Banking book 0.43 0.82 0.50 0.63 0.50
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2.3.1. Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk arises both through the Bank’s foreign exchange trading and because 
the Group’s activities are carried out in various currencies. The Group’s main objective for 
taking foreign exchange risk is to facilitate smooth foreign exchange trading for its customers 
and to manage the flows from customers’ deals effectively. Together with the customers’ 
deals related flows the Group manages the structural foreign exchange risk inherent in the 
structure of the balance sheet and earnings.  
 
Foreign exchange positions are measured within the overall VaR framework. As a 
complement ALCO has set limits for open foreign currency positions by individual currencies 
and also on an aggregated level as a sum of long or short positions, depending of which one is 
higher on absolute terms. Management of open foreign currency positions is the responsibility 
of the Foreign Exchange department, and analysing and limit follow-up that of the Risk 
Control department. 
 
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 
the reporting date. 
 
Currency position 
(millions of EUR) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31.12.12
EUR USD SEK

Other 
currencies TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and balances with central bank 231.9 1.1 1.3 3.3 237.6
Loans and advances to credit institutions 6.2 231.5 13.5 40.2 291.4
Loans and advances to customers 3,563.9 20.8 0.2 0.4 3,585.3
Securities 21.8 0.9 0.2 4.4 27.3
Other assets 35.9 2.6 2.3 0.6 41.4
TOTAL ASSETS 3,859.7 256.9 17.5 48.9 4,183.0

LIABILITIES
Due to credit institutions 736.6 9.5 0.6 1.5 748.2
Deposits 2,345.7 234.4 13.2 41.4 2,634.7
Other liabilities 74.2 14.4 5.7 3.0 97.3
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,156.5 258.3 19.5 45.9 3,480.2

Net on-balance sheet position 703.2 -1.4 -2.0 3.0 702.8

FX derivatives (notionals, due from) 35.2 16.5 6.4 38.0 96.1

FX derivatives (notionals due to) 41.9 15.3 4.2 34.6 96.0
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FX derivative assets and liabilities include currency-related derivatives and are shown here in 
their contractual nominal value. Net currency position was under 2% level of net own funds, 
14.2 EUR mio as at 31.12.2012 (13.8 EUR mio as at 31.12.2011). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31.12.11
EUR USD SEK

Other 
currencies TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and balances with central bank 82.7 1.4 1.1 3.0 88.2
Loans and advances to credit institutions 209.4 169.5 14.8 29.3 423.0
Loans and advances to customers 3,519.0 21.0 0.1 0.4 3,540.5
Securities 21.4 0.6 0.1 4.3 26.4
Other assets 23.0 1.7 0.7 0.5 25.9
TOTAL ASSETS 3,855.5 194.2 16.8 37.5 4,104.0

LIABILITIES
Due to credit institutions 925.3 22.1 0.5 0.6 948.5
Deposits 2,178.1 173.4 14.4 31.0 2,396.9
Other liabilities 113.9 6.9 2.2 5.3 128.3
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,217.3 202.4 17.1 36.9 3,473.7

Net on-balance sheet position 638.2 -8.2 -0.3 0.6 630.3

FX derivatives (notionals, due from) 43.8 34.8 4.8 20.7 104.1

FX derivatives (notionals due to) 55.1 26.9 4.7 17.1 103.8
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2.3.2. Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss or reduction of future net income following changes in 
interest rates, including price risk in connection with the sale of assets or closing of positions. 
To measure and limit interest rate risk the Group uses the VaR method, supplemented with 
Delta1% method.  
 
The Group uses Delta1% methodology for measuring the ALM (assets-liability mismatch) 
risk, arising from the structure of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities. 
Delta1% is defined as the change in market value arising from an adverse one percentage unit 
parallel shift in all interest rates in each currency. Delta1% method enables to effectively 
measure the impact of interest rate changes to interest bearing assets and liabilities. Delta1% 
limit is monitored as a negative or positive net position respectively, depending of which one 
is higher. Delta1% should be kept within the limit set by ALCO. Daily management of 
interest rate risk is the responsibility of the Treasury, and analysing that of the Risk Control 
department. 
 
As per year end, Delta1% was -2.95 EUR mio (2011: -2.7 EUR mio). 2012 average Delta1% 
was -3.3 EUR mio (2011: -3.9 EUR mio). The Group Delta1% has been negative which 
means that the average duration of interest bearing assets is higher than average duration of 
interest bearing liabilities and the Group is more exposed to interest rate increase. The biggest 
contributors to the Delta1% figure are loans from the asset side and deposits and funding from 
the parent company from the liabilities side which balance the mismatch from loans. Further 
information on interest rate sensitivity can be found through table below “Interest earning 
assets and interest bearing liabilities by interest repricing period”.  
 
SEB Pank Group has been keeping assets-liabilities mismatch at relatively low level. 
Flexibility to assets-liabilities mismatch management is assured by the possibility to adjust 
funding from parent company.  
 
The next table summarises the Group exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual 
repricing or maturity date. 
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Interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities by interest fixation period 
(millions of EUR) 

 
 
 
Table includes only interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities. Also the table does 
not include the liabilities from factoring (Note 24), commissions for loans and discounting of 
deposits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31.12.12

ASSETS
< 1 

month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
Over 5 
years Total

Due from central bank 191.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 191.0 191.0

Due from credit institutions 215.6 75.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 291.4 291.4

Due from customers 1,155.0 1,181.2 969.3 41.0 83.1 156.7 3,586.3 3,585.3

Securities 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

TOTAL ASSETS 1,561.7 1,257.0 969.3 41.0 83.1 156.7 4,068.8 4,067.8

1,561.7 1,257.0 969.3 41.0 83.1 156.7 4,068.8 4,067.8

LIABILITIES
Due to credit institutions 272.2 201.1 177.3 3.5 91.6 0.7 746.4 748.2

Due to customers 2,278.0 85.2 205.8 21.4 16.6 2.8 2,609.8 2,610.7

Lending funds 0.5 0.3 0.5 0.6 5.1 17.0 24.0 24.0

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,550.7 286.6 383.6 25.5 113.3 20.5 3,380.2 3,382.9

2,550.7 286.6 383.6 25.5 113.3 20.5 3,380.2 3,382.9

Total interest repricing gap 
of on-balance sheet position -989.0 970.4 585.7 15.5 -30.2 136.2 688.6 684.9

Derivative assets 105.8 9.3 8.8 5.6 7.0 1.8 138.3 21.3

Irrevocable and revocable 
interest related assets 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 5.0 0.0 6.5 0.0

Derivative liabilities 105.6 9.3 8.8 5.6 7.0 1.8 138.1 21.7

Irrevocable and revocable 
interest related liabilities 196.7 78.7 321.6 14.4 40.9 0.1 652.4 0.0

Total interest repricing gap -1,185.5 891.7 265.6 1.1 -66.1 136.1 42.9 684.5

Statement of 
financial 
position
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2.3.3. Equity price risk 
 
Equity price risk arises within market making and trading in equities and related instruments. 
In 2012 SEB Pank Group did not have any risks open in equity trading portfolio. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31.12.11

ASSETS
< 1 

month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
Over 5 
years Total

Due from central bank 49.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 49.4 49.5

Due from credit institutions 243.3 60.1 118.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 422.3 423.0

Due from customers 1,091.0 1,175.3 1,011.3 57.7 98.6 104.1 3,538.0 3,540.5

Securities 1.2 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2 1.2

TOTAL ASSETS 1,384.9 1,235.4 1,131.2 57.7 98.6 104.1 4,011.9 4,014.2

1,384.9 1,235.4 1,131.2 57.7 98.6 104.1 4,011.9 4,014.2

LIABILITIES
Due to credit institutions 141.7 280.9 423.3 41.5 54.6 1.3 943.3 948.5

Due to customers 1,848.8 162.3 321.1 30.3 13.9 0.8 2,377.2 2,378.8

Lending funds 0.6 0.3 0.7 0.9 4.2 11.4 18.1 18.1

Subordinated liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0 0.0 0.0 50.0 50.1

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,991.1 443.5 745.1 122.7 72.7 13.5 3,388.6 3,395.5

1,991.1 443.5 745.1 122.7 72.7 13.5 3,388.6 3,395.5

Total interest repricing gap 
of on-balance sheet position -606.2 791.9 386.1 -65.0 25.9 90.6 623.3 618.7

Derivative assets 110.2 12.0 8.5 7.4 7.0 1.1 146.2 19.7

Irrevocable and revocable 
interest related assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.5 0.0 6.5 0.0

Derivative liabilities 110.0 12.0 8.5 7.4 7.0 1.1 146.0 20.5

Irrevocable and revocable 
interest related liabilities 69.0 58.3 204.1 24.8 2.6 1.0 359.8 0.0

Total interest repricing gap -675.0 733.6 182.0 -89.8 29.8 89.6 270.2 617.9

Statement of 
financial 
position
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2.4. Concentration of risks 
(millions of EUR) 
 
Geographic concentration of assets and liabilities 

 
Contingent liabilities include here guarantees and pledges, loan commitments, revocable 
transactions, stand-by loans, other revocable transactions and are presented in contract amount 
of contingent liabilities, detailed view in Note 31. Securities include here financial assets held 
for trading, financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale 
financial assets, investments in associates. 

31.12.12

Cash, 
balances 

with central 
bank, loans 

and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions

Loans 
and 

advances 
to custo- 

mers
Securi- 

ties
Other 
assets

Total 
assets

Due to to 
credit 

institu- 
tions

Due to 
custo- 
mers

Other 
liabilities

Total 
liabilities

Contingent 
liabilities

Sweden 242.6 1.3 1.9 2.1 247.9 675.4 8.8 20.4 704.6 1.4
Estonia 237.7 3,542.3 24.5 36.4 3,840.9 10.9 2,227.6 97.5 2,336.0 1,009.9
United Kingdom 16.2 2.1 0.0 0.1 18.4 1.3 18.9 0.0 20.2 0.2
Russia 1.9 0.4 0.0 0.3 2.6 0.4 25.4 0.3 26.1 0.1
Germany 4.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.4 25.8 7.3 0.0 33.1 7.4
United States 2.8 0.5 0.8 0.0 4.1 0.0 59.3 0.0 59.3 0.1
Canada 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.9 0.0
Japan 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0
Finland 0.1 18.8 0.0 1.2 20.1 0.0 11.7 1.3 13.0 2.4
Latvia 4.9 10.1 0.0 0.1 15.1 31.6 6.5 0.0 38.1 0.0
Lithuania 3.9 0.0 0.0 0.2 4.1 1.3 11.9 0.0 13.2 0.0
Luxembourg 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.4 1.6 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0
Netherlands 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.9 0.0
Other Western Europe 12.4 8.7 0.1 0.2 21.4 0.9 33.9 0.0 34.8 1.6
Other Eastern Europe 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 3.1 0.1 3.2 0.0
Other countries 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.8 0.1 194.2 1.7 196.0 0.9

529.0 3,585.3 27.3 41.4 4,183.0 748.2 2,610.7 121.3 3,480.2 1,024.0

31.12.11

Cash, 
balances 

with central 
bank, loans 

and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions

Loans 
and 

advances 
to custo- 

mers
Securi- 

ties
Other 
assets

Total 
assets

Due to to 
credit 

institu- 
tions

Due to 
custo- 
mers

Other 
liabilities

Total 
liabilities

Contingent 
liabilities

Sweden 403.3 1.6 3.1 0.3 408.3 862.8 9.8 66.8 939.4 1.3
Estonia 88.3 3,496.8 22.1 19.8 3,627.0 24.6 2,088.8 73.0 2,186.4 695.4
United Kingdom 0.4 2.2 0.3 0.0 2.9 6.9 17.8 0.1 24.8 0.2
Russia 2.5 0.4 0.0 0.0 2.9 0.4 17.2 0.0 17.6 0.1
Germany 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.4 33.2 2.3 0.0 35.5 7.4
United States 2.8 0.8 0.5 0.0 4.1 0.2 51.9 0.0 52.1 0.1
Canada 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.8 0.0
Japan 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0
Finland 0.0 19.2 0.0 0.5 19.7 0.0 8.1 0.4 8.5 2.0
Latvia 5.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 5.3 17.7 1.8 0.0 19.5 0.0
Lithuania 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.1 1.6 0.3 2.1 0.0 2.4 0.0
Luxembourg 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.4 1.5 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0
Netherlands 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 1.3 0.0 1.3 0.0
Other Western Europe 5.1 18.1 0.0 0.1 23.3 2.2 14.8 0.0 17.0 1.1
Other Eastern Europe 0.7 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.9 0.0 1.9 0.0 1.9 0.0
Other countries 0.1 0.6 0.2 4.7 5.6 0.1 159.8 6.1 166.0 0.0

511.2 3,540.5 26.4 25.9 4,104.0 948.5 2,378.8 146.4 3,473.7 707.6
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Concentration of assets and liabilities by economic sector 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In the statement of financial position

31.12.12
Cash and loans to central 
bank, credit institutions 

and customers Securities

Contingent 
liabilities

Real estate 638.1 0.1 38.9
Finance 534.4 4.2 14.2
Industry 238.7 0.0 173.1
Trading 154.0 0.0 124.8
Agriculture, fishing, forestry 151.7 0.0 21.9
Energy, gas and steam plants 124.0 0.0 160.5
Transport 111.3 0.0 76.0
Government and state defence 107.8 0.0 224.3
Administration and assistance 74.7 0.0 11.0
Health services, social work 55.2 0.0 13.4
Hotels, restaurants 46.8 0.0 0.7
Information and telecommunication 44.3 1.1 6.7
Construction 40.6 0.0 69.0
Education 22.4 0.0 4.9
Water supply, canalisation, waste management 11.0 0.0 3.3
Art, show business, leisure 10.0 0.0 1.6
Professional, science and technical work 8.6 0.0 4.9
Mining 2.4 0.0 0.2
Other government and social services 25.1 0.6 9.3
Individuals 1,804.4 0.0 65.3
Derivatives 0.0 21.3 0.0
Allowances -91.2 - -

4,106.9 34.7 1,024.0
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Contingent liabilities include here guarantees and pledges, loan commitments, revocable 
transactions, stand-by loans, other revocable transactions and are presented in contract amount 
of contingent liabilities, detailed view in Note 31. Securities include here financial assets held 
for trading, financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale 
financial assets, investments in associates. 
 
 
2.5. Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, over a specific time horizon, is unable to meet the 
demand for additional liquidity. Liquidity risk also entails the risk that the Group is forced to 
borrow at unfavourable rates or is forced to sell assets at a loss in order to meet its payment 
commitments.  
 
The Groups’ liquidity risk is regulated and managed on basis of the mandatory reserve of the 
Bank of Estonia and internal liquidity limits determined by ALCO. Liquidity risk is measured 
as cumulative cash flows arising from the assets and liabilities of the bank in various time 
bands. Liquidity management is based on special models reflecting cash flow behaviour in the 
case of different scenarios including crisis scenario.  
 

In the statement of financial position

31.12.11

Cash and loans to central 
bank, credit institutions 

and customers Securities

Contingent 
liabilities

Real estate 629.1 0.1 20.5
Finance 515.6 3.9 15.4
Industry 259.6 1.0 154.4
Trading 198.7 0.0 88.4
Energy, gas and steam plants 116.6 0.0 140.4
Agriculture, fishing, forestry 109.3 0.0 12.7
Transport 108.5 0.0 80.0
Government and state defence 106.9 0.0 21.1
Information and telecommunication 53.2 0.7 7.7
Hotels, restaurants 46.8 0.0 0.7
Health services, social work 46.4 0.0 7.1
Administration and assistance 44.5 0.0 7.6
Construction 43.2 0.0 63.2
Education 23.0 0.0 6.3
Art, show business, leisure 15.5 0.0 0.6
Water supply, canalisation, waste management 12.9 0.0 4.4
Professional, science and technical work 9.1 0.0 3.6
Mining 2.6 0.0 0.2
Other government and social services 22.0 1.0 7.1
Individuals 1,819.2 0.0 66.2
Derivatives 0.0 19.7 0.0
Allowances -131.0 - -

4,051.7 26.4 707.6
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The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the group and monitored by 
Treasury, includes: 

 Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that 
requirements can be met. This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are 
borrowed by customers; 

 Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets to fulfil mandatory reserve 
requirement; 

 Monitoring liquidity gaps against internal limits; and 
 Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 

 
Long-term liquidity of the bank is planned and control over liquidity risk management is 
executed by ALCO. Central and daily management of the bank’s liquidity is the responsibility 
of the Treasury, and analysing that of the Risk Control department. 
 
Additional assurance for AS SEB Pank to manage long-term liquidity gives belonging to the 
international banking group. Liquidity is managed in co-operation with SEB Group Treasury. 
Through the parent company AS SEB Pank has better access to the international money 
markets than on individual basis. 
 
Next table presents the cash flows payable by the Group under financial liabilities by 
remaining contractual maturity at the reporting date. The amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
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Liquidity risk (by remaining maturity) 
(millions of EUR) 

 
 
 
Assets available to meet these liabilities include cash, central bank balances, loans and 
advances to banks and loans and advances to customers. In the normal course of business, a 
proportion of customer loans contractually repayable within one year will be extended. The 
Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities. 
Reporting date spot rate of European Central Bank is used for assets / liabilities in foreign 
currencies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31.12.12

On 
demand 
and less 
than 1 
month

1-3 
months

3-12 
months

1-2 
years

2-5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

Carrying 
value in 

statement 
of financial 

position
Due to credit institutions 145.7 14.5 110.3 110.9 384.3 0.7 766.4 748.2
Due to customers 2,275.0 87.1 209.6 23.9 23.7 23.0 2,642.3 2,634.7
Other liabilities 70.8 2.4 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 73.7 73.7

Irrevocable and revocable off-
balance sheet commitments 1,024.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,024.0 0.0

Gross settled
Derivatives inflow -106.3 -8.7 -8.8 -5.6 -7.0 -1.8 -138.2 -20.0
Derivatives outflow 106.2 8.7 8.8 5.6 7.0 1.8 138.1 19.8

3,515.4 104.0 320.4 134.8 408.0 23.7 4,506.3 3,456.4

31.12.11

On 
demand 
and less 
than 1 
month

1-3 
months

3-12 
months

1-2 
years

2-5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

Carrying 
value in 

statement 
of financial 

position
Due to credit institutions 55.9 9.5 594.4 131.3 180.8 4.6 976.5 948.5
Due to customers 1,843.3 164.0 327.9 35.6 20.5 16.8 2,408.1 2,396.9
Subordinated loans 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.5 8.2 51.9 62.8 50.1
Other liabilities 51.3 0.0 3.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 54.7 54.8

Irrevocable and revocable off-
balance sheet commitments 707.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 707.6 0.0

Gross settled
Derivatives inflow -113.4 -8.8 -8.5 -7.4 -7.0 -1.1 -146.2 -18.6
Derivatives outflow 113.2 8.8 8.5 7.4 7.0 1.1 146.0 18.3

2,657.9 173.5 926.9 168.4 209.5 73.3 4,209.5 3,450.0
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2.6. Operational risk  
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss due to external events (natural disasters, external crime, 
etc.) or internal factors (e.g. breakdown of IT systems, mistakes, fraud, non-compliance with 
external and internal rules, other deficiencies in internal controls). 
 

Main activities to promote a sound operational risk management culture, in order to protect 
group’s financial performance and reputation, are following: 

 Setting the risk framework for sound operational risk management through policies 
and instructions; 

 Providing tools and processes for the implementation of policies and instructions;  
 Reporting, measuring and following up of operational risk; 
 Modeling, calculating and distributing of operational risk capital according to the 

AMA model.  
 
Minimum standards for operational risk management of AS SEB Pank are established in the 
Operational Risk Policy. Further requirements for e.g. business continuity planning, 
operational risk self-assessment and other operational risk management tools, are set out in  
relevant instructions. 
 
Several tools and techniques have been developed to manage operational risk: 

 Handling and registering of operational risk events (losses, near misses and 
extraordinary gains), risk assessment and preparation of action plans. The Bank has 
implemented a risk management system used all over the Group; 

 Regular monitoring of Key Risk Indicators which serve as early warning signals about 
changes in risk level and business efficiency; 

 Regular process of operational risk self-assessment (ORSA); 
 Regular quality assessment of business units based on implementation of operational 

risk requirements; 
 Compliance with New Product Approval Process in product development, main focus 

being on identification and mitigation of operational risk; 
 Business continuity planning - establishing business continuity plans for most critical 

business processes, recovery plans for IT and ensuring physical security in crisis 
situations. 

 
Starting from 2008, AS SEB Pank uses the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) for 
measuring the operational risk and calculating the capital requirement. 
 
Capital for operational risk is quantified using internal data and external statistics about actual 
operational losses in the global financial sector. When calculating expected losses, data on 
Group’s internal operational risk losses is used; for unexpected losses, data from external 
databases is used. 

 
AS SEB Pank has established Operational Risk Committee, in order to guide and co-ordinate 
the operational risk management. The main tasks of the committee are to carry out 
supervision over operational risk management and control handling of operational risks.  
 



 
 
 
 
AS SEB Pank, Annual Report 2012                                                                                                  
   

 

 - 64 - 

In 2009, New Product Approval Committee was founded, the purpose of which is to ensure 
the high quality of the Group’s products and services. The Group shall not initiate activities, 
which involve undefined risks or such risks, which the Group is not able to immediately 
manage or control. 
 
AS SEB Pank has concluded insurance contracts for mitigating material risks. 
 
Total amount of operational risk losses occurred in 2012 remained on the same level than in 
2011. 
 
 
2.7. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
       (millions of EUR) 
 
A) Financial instruments not measured at fair value 

 
 
AS SEB Pank conducts an assessment of fair value for those financial assets and liabilities 
which are not presented in the Group’s statement of financial position at their fair value. 
 
When calculating fair value for floating interest rate loans and for fixed-interest rate lending, 
future cash flows are discounted based on the market interest curve, which has been adjusted 
for applicable margins of new lending. Similarly have been calculated also fixed-interest rate 
deposits, floating interest rate and fixed-interest rate balances due to credit institutions. 

31.12.12 31.12.11

Carrying 
value

Fair 
value

Carrying 
value

Fair 
value

ASSETS

Cash 46.6 46.6 46.6 # 38.7 38.7

Balances with central bank 191.0 191.0 191.0 # 49.5 49.5

Loans and advances to credit institutions 291.4 291.4 291.4 # 423.0 423.0

Loans and advances to customers 3,585.3 3,585.3 3,473.1 # 3,540.5 3,348.1

   Loans to Corporates 1,817.8 1,810.1 1,762.8 1,721.2

   Loans to Private individuals 1,767.5 1,663.0 1,777.7 1,626.9

Other assets 31.7 31.7 31.7 # 18.0 18.0

TOTAL ASSETS 4,146.0 4,146.0 4,033.8 # 4,069.7 3,877.3

LIABILITIES

Due to credit institutions 748.2 748.2 747.9 # 948.5 945.9

Due to customers 2,610.7 2,610.7 2,611.8 # 2,378.8 2,377.9

   Due to Corporates 1,525.4 1,525.5 1,370.7 1,370.0

   Due to Private Individuals 1,085.3 1,086.3 1,008.1 1,007.9

Loan funds 24.0 24.0 25.1 # 18.1 18.1

Other financial liabilities 73.7 73.7 73.7 # 54.8 54.8

Subordinated loans 0.0 0.0 0.0 # 50.1 49.2

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,456.6 3,456.6 3,458.5 # 3,450.3 3,445.9
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As of reporting date fair value of loans and advances to customers was 3.13% lower than the 
carrying value. As of 31.12.2011 fair value of loans and advances to customers was 5.43% 
lower than the carrying value. 
 
Balances due to credit institutions 748.2 million EUR (31.12.2011: 948.5 million EUR) 
include 582.1 million EUR credit lines borrowed from the parent bank Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB (31.12.2011: 862.8 million EUR), see Note 21 and Note 33. As of 
reporting date fair value of balances due to credit institutions was 0.04% lower (2011: 0.28%) 
than the carrying value. 
 
As of reporting date fair value of balances due to customers was 0.04% higher (2011: 0.04% 
lower) than the carrying value. 
 
As of reporting date fair value of lending funds was 4.60% higher (2011: 0.13%) than the 
carrying value. 
 
B) Financial instruments measured at fair value 

 
 
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those 
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data 
obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s market 
assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy: 
 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This 
level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges but also instruments 
quoted by market participants. 
     
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 
The sources of input parameters like Euro yield curve or counterparty credit risk are 
Bloomberg and Thomson Reuters.     

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Financial assets held for trading 0.0 21.4 0.0 21.4 3.7 17.3 0.0 21.0

Debt securities 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 1.2 0.0 0.0 1.2

Derivatives 0.0 21.3 0.0 21.3 2.5 17.3 0.0 19.8

Available for sale financial assets 5.2 0.0 0.1 5.3 4.4 0.0 0.4 4.8

Investment securities - equity 5.2 0.0 0.1 5.3 4.4 0.0 0.4 4.8

TOTAL ASSETS 5.2 21.4 0.1 26.7 8.1 17.3 0.4 25.8

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Financial liabilities held for trading 0.0 21.7 0.0 21.7 1.0 19.5 0.0 20.5

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.0 21.7 0.0 21.7 1.0 19.5 0.0 20.5

31.12.12 31.12.11
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Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with 
significant unobservable components. 

 
 
2.8. Capital management 
 
The Group’s Capital Policy defines how capital management should support the business 
goals. Shareholders’ return requirement shall be balanced against the capital requirements of 
the regulators and the equity necessary to conduct the business of the Group. 
 
ALCO and the Chief Financial Officer are responsible for the process linked to overall 
business planning, to assess capital requirements in relation to the Group’s risk profile, and 
for proposing a strategy for maintaining the desired capital levels. The Group’s capitalisation 
shall be risk-based and built on an assessment of all risks incurred in the Group’s business. It 
shall be forward-looking and aligned with short- and long-term business plans as well as with 
expected macroeconomic developments. Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ICAAP) is managed by Treasury. 
 
Together with continuous monitoring, and reporting of the capital adequacy to the 
Management Board, this ensures that the relationships between shareholders’ equity, ICAAP 
and regulatory based requirements are managed in such a way that the Group does not 
jeopardise the profitability of the business and the financial strength of the Group. 
 
Capital ratios are the main communication vehicle for capital strength. Good risk management 
notwithstanding, the Group must keep capital buffers against unexpected losses. In the SEB 
Group capital is managed centrally, meeting also local requirements as regards statutory and 
internal capital. Following the SEB Group Capital Policy the parent company shall promptly 
arrange for additional capital if SEB Pank requires capital injections to meet the decided level. 
  

Reconciliation of Level 3 Items

Total
At 1 January 2011 0.0 0.3 0.3
Other comprehensive income 0.0 -0.2 -0.2
Purchases 0.0 0.4 0.4
Settlements 0.0 -0.1 -0.1
At 31 December 2011 0.0 0.4 0.4

0.0 -0.2 -0.2

At 1 January 2012 0.0 0.4 0.4
Other comprehensive income 0.0 0.2 0.2
Purchases 0.0 0.1 0.1
Settlements 0.0 -0.6 -0.6
At 31 December 2012 0.0 0.1 0.1

0.0 -0.1 -0.1
Total losses for the period included in profit or loss for 
assets/liabilities held at 31.12.12.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Total losses for the period included in profit or loss for 
assets/liabilities held at 31.12.11.

Investment 
securities - 

equity

Investment 
securities - 

debt



 
 
 
 
AS SEB Pank, Annual Report 2012                                                                                                  
   

 

 - 67 - 

The Authority requires each bank or banking group to: (a) hold the minimum level of the 
regulatory capital:  net-owners’ equity must be over 5 EUR mio, and (b) maintain a ratio of 
total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted asset at or above minimum of 10%.  
 
According to Investment Funds Act, the share capital of a management company shall be 
equivalent to at least 3 EUR mio, if the management company manages a mandatory pension 
fund (AS SEB Varahaldus). 
 
Capital adequacy 
(millions of euros) 

 
 

CAPITAL BASE 31.12.12 31.12.11
Paid-in share capital 42.5 42.5
Premium 86.3 86.1
General banking reserves 19.4 19.5
Retained earnings / loss 482.4 383.8

-0.1 -0.1
Intangibles -0.5 -0.4
Audited profit for the period 71.3 98.1
Total primary own funds 701.3 629.5
Subordinated debt 0.0 50.0
Available for sale financial instruments 0.4 0.1
Unrealised part of profit on shares of subsidiaries and associated companies 0.0 0.1
Allowances and adjustments exceeding expected loss 10.1 10.6
Total supplementary own funds 10.5 60.8
Total deductions 0.0 0.0
Primary own funds after deductions 701.3 629.5
Supplementary own funds after deductions 10.5 60.8
Own funds included in calculation of capital adequacy 711.8 690.3

CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS 31.12.12 31.12.11
Municipalities and regions with standardised approach 6.0 5.4

0.1 0.1
Retail claims with standardised approach 16.2 13.9
Overdue claims with standardised approach 0.0 1.2
Shares of investment funds with standardised approach 0.4 0.4
Other assets with standardised approach 3.3 2.1

5.1 7.0
Other companies with IRB 125.2 128.2
Retail claims with IRB 38.7 41.8

Total capital requirements for covering the credit risk and counterparty credit risk 195.0 200.1
Capital requirement for covering interest position risk 1.1 1.0
Capital requirement for covering AMA of operational risk 11.4 11.2
Capital requirements total 207.5 212.3

303.1 301.5
Capital requirements for calculating capital adequacy 303.1 301.5

Unrealised profit for previous periods on shares of subsidiaries and associated companies 
(negative)

Transition period floor of own funds if using IRB

State agencies, non-profit institutions and associations with standardised approach

Credit institutions, investment firms and municipalities with IRB
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2.9. Internal control system 
 
Internal control system is a management tool that covers the activities of the entire banking 
Group and forms an integral part of the internal processes in the bank and in the Group. The 
responsibility for the establishment and operation of internal control system lies with the 
Management Board; the need for and the scope of controls is determined by the extent and 
nature of the risks involved.  
 
The bank’s Supervisory Board carries out supervision of the activities of the bank and the 
entire Group by establishing the general risk management principles. 
To achieve the approved business goals, the Management Board of the bank establishes in 
accordance with the statutory requirements the necessary sub-plans, incl. competence and 
scope of liability as well as the internal rules that regulate activities, the accounting rules and 
the procedure for preparing and submitting operating reports. 
 
 
2.10. Control functions  
 
The Group has three control functions which are independent from the business operations: 
Risk Control, Compliance and Internal Audit.  
 
The Group’s risk control function responsibilities are to ensure that risks are identified and 
analysed and to measure, follow-up and report risks taken by units within the Group (see 
further on p. 2.1-2.8). Risk Control function is performed by 

 Risk Control department, responsible for market, operational and liquidity risk 
control and 

 Risk Center, responsible for credit risk control. 
Risk Control department and Risk Center are subordinated to the Head of Credits and Risk, 
Member of the Management Board and are also regularly reporting directly to the 
Management Board and ALCO.  
 
The Compliance function in SEB Pank Group is global and independent from the business 
organisation. Its tasks are to mitigate compliance risks, ensure compliance quality, drive and 

CAPITAL RATIOS
31.12.12 31.12.11

Capital adequacy, % 23.49 22.90
Tier 1 Capital Ratio, % 23.14 20.88
Tier 2 Capital Ratio, % 0.35 2.02

AS SEB Pank
AS SEB Liising Group
AS SEB Varahaldus
AS Bangalo (merged with AS SEB Liising in July 2012)

MEMBERS OF CONSOLIDATION GROUP, 
INCLUDED TO CAPITAL ADEQUACY 
CALCULATION
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promote compliance issues. Compliance Department, directly subordinated to the Chairman 
of the Management Board, supports the business and management by securing that the 
business in SEB Pank Group is carried out in compliance with regulatory requirements. In 
matters of common interest, Compliance co-operates with the Legal, Internal Audit, Risk 
Control and Security functions. The areas of responsibility for the Compliance function relate 
to areas of customer protection, market conduct, prevention of money laundering and terrorist 
financing, regulatory systems and controls. The SEB Pank Group’s instruction for the 
handling of conflicts of interests, ethics policy, market abuse instruction, instruction on 
measures to prevent money laundering, Code of Business Conduct are of special importance.  
 
The Internal Audit Department is directly subordinated to the Supervisory Board. Internal 
Audit Department and SEB Audit and Compliance Committee are responsible for monitoring 
of the existence and functioning of efficient internal control system, providing objective and 
independent assurance over effectiveness of governance, risk management and controls, and 
recommending actions in order to improve internal controls.  
 
The SEB Audit and Compliance Committee co-ordinates the Internal Audit and Compliance 
work in accordance with the group’s business objectives and overall risk assessment. 
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Notes 3 - 36 to Financial Statements of AS SEB Pank Group

(millions of EUR)

3. Interest and similar income
2012 2011

Loans 91.9 108.8
Leasing 14.9 16.9
Deposits  with other banks 2.8 4.0
Fixed income securities 0.1 0.1

109.7 129.8

4. Interest expenses and similar charges
2012 2011

Credit institutions -14.1 -22.9
Time and other saving deposits -9.4 -10.9
Demand deposits -4.0 -5.0
Subordinated debts -0.5 -1.9
Loan funds -0.5 -0.4

-28.5 -41.1

5. Fee and commission income
2012 2011

Payment cards related commissions 20.7 19.6
Securities market services * 11.9 12.2
Transaction fees 5.3 5.5
Credit contracts** 4.1 4.0
Non-life insurance brokerage fees 2.0 3.0
Other settlement fees 3.1 1.9
Income from leasing agreements (full service) 1.3 1.5
Income from electronic channels 1.3 1.2
Cash handling fees 0.8 1.0
Commodity futures fees 0.1 0.1
Other 1.2 1.1

51.8 51.1

** Credit contracts include loan, leasing, letter of credit and guarantee contracts, which are short-term and do
not constitute interest income, but are of administrative nature for arrangement or reorganisation of credits.

Group is calculating interest income from loans with 60 days or more overdue based on cash received. Until 60
days overdue limit has not been breached interest income is recognized continuously based on contractual
rate. The difference comparing to full effective interest income recognition was estimated for 2012 and 2011 to
result in immaterial misstatement.

* Securities market services includes asset management fees of investment funds and securties portfolios,
custody services, advisory fees and other with securities transactions related fees.
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6. Fee and commission expense
2012 2011

Credit and payment cards -9.1 -7.6
Cash collecting fees -1.3 -1.9
Expenses to leasing agreements (full service) -1.8 -1.9
Securities market -1.2 -1.2
Transaction fees -0.6 -0.6
Expenses of electronic channels -0.5 -0.5
Other -0.2 -0.2

-14.7 -13.9

7. Net income from foreign exchange
2012 2011

Gain (loss) from transactions 6.6 -1.2

Currency translation differences -1.8 6.1

4.8 4.9

8.

2012 2011

Gain(loss) from financial assets at fair value 0.5 0.2
Gained from fixed income securities 0.5 0.2

Derivatives 2.0 2.2
Equity derivatives 0.7 0.9
Currency derivatives 0.5 0.4
Interest derivatives 0.8 0.9

Impairment of financial assets 0.0 -0.2
2.5 2.2

Respective assets are disclosed in Notes 16 and 31.

Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
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Development costs 
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. Advertising expenses and the launch of new products, 
services and processes are expensed as incurred. Expenditures related to trademarks, etc., to 
be developed inside the company are also expensed at the moment of their occurrence. 
  
In 2012 AS SEB Pank had expenses for the developing IT systems and electronic products in 
total amount of 2,9 million euros (3,0 million euros in 2011). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9. Other income
2012 2011

Rental income 0.2 0.1
Penalties 0.1 0.1
Other income 0.3 0.3

0.6 0.5

10. Personnel expenses
2012 2011

Personnel expenses* -24.9 -25.7

Social security expenses** -7.9 -8.3
Other personnel expenses (hiring, training) -0.8 -0.8

-33.6 -34.8

11. Other expenses
2012 2011

Rooms rent -6.3 -6.3

Premises cost (utilities) -2.7 -3.2

IT related expenses -4.6 -4.5

Advertising and marketing -1.7 -1.9

Other administrative cost -1.5 -1.7

Information services -0.8 -0.8

Legal services -0.9 -1.3

Penalties 0.0 -0.1

Consulting 0.0 -0.1

Other operating expenses -1.6 -2.4
-20.1 -22.3

* Costs related to the Long Term Incentive programmes are booked under personnel expenses in total amount
0.5 EUR mio in 2012 (0.5 EUR mio in 2011). These programmes are the Performance Share Programme,
Employee Stock Option and the Share Savings Programmes (Note 1.18). 

** Social security tax payments include contribution to state pension funds. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to make pension or similar payments beyond social security tax.
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12. Impairment losses on loans and advances 

 
 

 
 
 

2012

Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Housing 

loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals
Seized 
assets TOTAL

Impairment losses 0.0 7.6 -4.1 -3.8 0.0 -0.3
impairment losses of reporting period (Note 15) 0.0 -6.4 -6.2 -5.3 0.0 -17.9
recoveries from writeoffs (Note 15) 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3

0.0 13.7 2.1 1.5 0.0 17.3

Impairment losses for contingent liabilities 0.0 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2
0.0 9.8 -4.1 -3.8 0.0 1.9

2011

Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Housing 

loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals
Seized 
assets TOTAL

Impairment losses 0.0 29.4 -2.2 0.3 0.0 27.5
impairment losses of reporting period (Note 15) 0.0 -7.3 -6.4 -1.0 0.0 -14.7
recoveries from writeoffs (Note 15) 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2

0.0 36.5 4.2 1.3 0.0 42.0
Impairment losses for contingent liabilities 0.0 -2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 -2.7

0.0 26.7 -2.2 0.3 0.0 24.8

decreasing of impairment losses of previous 
period (Note 15)

decreasing of impairment losses of previous 
period (Note 15)

13. Balances with central bank
31.12.12 31.12.11

Demand deposits 191.0 49.5
incl.-mandatory reserve requirement 24.9 49.5

-demand deposits, cash equivalents 166.1 0.0
191.0 49.5

14. Loans and advances to credit institutions
31.12.12 31.12.11

Demand deposits* 71.5 47.4
Time deposits 219.9 374.9
Accrued interest receivable 0.0 0.7

291.4 423.0

* Cash equivalents. 71.5 47.4

Due from credit institutions, registered in EU (except Estonia) 283.6 413.7
Due from credit institutions, registered in Estonia 0.1 0.1
Due from credit institutions, registered in other countries 7.7 9.2

291.4 423.0

Mandatory reserve deposits are available for use by the Group's day-to-day business. Mandatory reserve earns
interest at 0,75%. In 2012 the Group earned interest in amount of 0.3 EUR mio (2011 0.6 EUR mio).
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15. Loans and advances to customers
31.12.12 31.12.11

Loans to Corporates 1,642.4 1,595.2
Public sector 175.4 167.6
Housing loans 1,538.8 1,547.4
Other loans to Private individuals 228.7 230.3

3,585.3 3,540.5

Due from customers, registered in EU (except Estonia) 40.9 40.6
Due from customers, registered in Estonia 3,542.3 3,496.8
Due from customers, registered in other countries 2.1 3.1

3,585.3 3,540.5

Loans and advances to customers by remaining maturity

Less than 
3 months

3-12 
months

1-5 
years

5-10 
years

Over 10 
years Total

31.12.12 209.7 560.3 1,435.4 510.4 869.5 3,585.3

31.12.11 174.2 509.0 1,390.1 517.9 949.3 3,540.5

Gross and net investments on finance leases
31.12.12 31.12.11

Gross investment 412.2 401.2
up to 1 year 142.4 154.9
1 - 5 years 257.8 231.5
over 5 years 12.0 14.8

Unearned future finance income on finance leases (-) -22.8 -29.0

Net investment in finance leases* 389.4 372.2
up to 1 year 133.0 142.6
1 - 5 years 245.0 216.3
over 5 years 11.4 13.3

31.12.12 31.12.11
Net investment in finance leases by interest rates 389.4 372.2
<= 5% 356.8 279.1
5-10% 32.4 92.8
10-15% 0.2 0.3
>15% 0.0 0.0

31.12.12 31.12.11
Net investment in finance leases by base currencies 389.4 372.2
EEK 0.0 0.0
EEK related to EUR 0.0 0.0
USD 0.0 0.3

EUR 389.4 371.9

Loan portfolio by economic sector presented in Note 2 "Risk policy and management", on page 59.

* Net investment in finance leases are presented above on lines: Leases to Corporates, Public sector, Housing
loans, Other loans to Private individuals.

Due from customers by maturity is presented in interest restatement by maturity on pages 56-57.

Due from customers by currency is presented in Note 2, on page 53.

Past due is presented in Note 2, on page 50.
Geographic concentration of assets and liabilities is presented in Note 2, on page 58.
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Allowances for impaired debt

2012

Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Housing 

loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals TOTAL
At the beginning of period  (January, 1) 0.0 89.6 33.7 7.7 131.0
Allowances of reporting period (Note 12) 0.0 6.4 6.2 5.3 17.9
Decreasing of allowances of previous period (Note 12) 0.0 -13.7 -2.1 -1.5 -17.3
Loans and advances written off 0.0 -28.0 -7.4 -5.0 -40.4
At the end of period (December, 31) 0.0 54.3 30.4 6.5 91.2

Recoveries from write-offs (Note 12) 0.0 -0.3 0.0 0.0 -0.3

2011

Credit 
insti- 

tutions Corporates
Housing 

loans

Other loans 
to Private 

individuals TOTAL
At the beginning of period  (January, 1) 0.0 138.2 32.2 9.1 179.5
Allowances of reporting period (Note 12) 0.0 7.3 6.4 1.0 14.7
Decreasing of allowances of previous period (Note 12) 0.0 -36.5 -4.2 -1.3 -42.0
Loans and advances written off 0.0 -19.4 -0.7 -1.1 -21.2
At the end of period (December, 31) 0.0 89.6 33.7 7.7 131.0

Recoveries from write-offs (Note 12) 0.0 -0.2 0.0 0.0 -0.2

16. Financial investments
31.12.12 31.12.11

Financial assets held for trading 21.4 21.0

Securities held for trading 0.1 1.2

   Debt securities and other fixed income securities 0.1 1.2
      incl. valued with discounted cash flow method * 0.0 0.0
      incl. listed 0.1 1.2

Derivatives (Note 31) 21.3 19.8

Available for sale financial assets 5.3 4.9
   Shares and fund participations** 5.3 4.9
      incl. listed 0.0 0.0

Total 26.7 25.9

Securities of entities, registered in EU (except Estonia) 2.0 3.4
Securities of entities, registered in Estonia 23.9 21.6
Securities of entities, registered in other countries 0.8 0.9

26.7 25.9

* Yield curves for discounted cash flow method were determined based on market interest rates for respective
currency and credit spreads for respective issuer. To capture issuer credit risk, SEB internal credit rating (risk class)
was used as based for credit spread.

** Includes participations in pension funds managed by AS SEB Varahaldus in the total value of 4.2 EUR mio (2011
3.9 EUR mio), ownership of which is required (1-2% of the specific managed fund) according to the Investment
Fund's Act.

Generally financial investments are revalued in fair value based on active market quotations.
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Movements of financial investments

Financial 
assets held 
for trading

Derivatives 
(Note 31)

Available-
for-sale 
financial 

assets TOTAL

At the beginning of period (01.01.11) 1.4 20.5 5.0 26.9
Acquisitions 796.4 0.0 0.6 797.0
Disposals and redemptions -796.6 0.0 -0.5 -797.1
Changes of value 0.0 -0.4 -0.2 -0.6
Changes of currency rate 0.0 -0.3 0.0 -0.3
At the end of period (31.12.11) 1.2 19.8 4.9 25.9

At the beginning of period (01.01.12) 1.2 19.8 4.9 25.9
Acquisitions 1,074.5 0.0 0.2 1,074.7
Disposals and redemptions -1,075.6 0.0 -0.5 -1,076.1
Changes of value 0.0 2.3 0.6 2.9
Changes of currency rate 0.0 -0.8 0.1 -0.7
At the end of period (31.12.12) 0.1 21.3 5.3 26.7

17. Other assets
31.12.12 31.12.11

Payments in transit 16.1 8.5
Accrued revenue and prepaid expenses 13.7 8.7
Prepaid taxes 1.9 0.7
Assets held for sale 0.0 0.1

31.7 18.0

Financial investments available for sale with ownership in shares over 10%, presented in the statement of
financial position on line "Available-for-sale financial assets" as of 31.12.2011 was Silverlaw OÜ, total value of
shares was 3.3 thousand EUR . The aforementioned company, located in Estonia, was liquidated at 14.08.2012.
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18. Investments in associates

Movements of investments in associates

At the beginning of 
period

Disposals 
and 

redemp- 
tions

Profit from equity 
method

Paid 
dividends

At the 
end of 
period

2012 0.5 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.6

2011 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.5

Associated companies

Nominal 
value Assets

Liabili- 
ties

Total 
revenues

AS SEB 
Pank in 

calculated
profit/-loss

Balance 
value

Owner- 
ship,
 %

2012

AS Sertifitseerimiskeskus
without 
nominal 

value
2.5 0.4 3.1 0.3 0.5 25.00%

Tieto Estonia Services OÜ 1278 EUR 0.5 0.3 1.7 0.0 0.1 20.00%

Total 3.0 0.7 4.8 0.3 0.6

2011

AS Sertifitseerimiskeskus
without 
nominal 

value
1.8 0.3 2.7 0.0 0.4 25.00%

OÜ TietoEnator Support 1278 EUR 0.6 0.2 1.8 0.0 0.1 20.00%

Total 2.4 0.5 4.5 0.0 0.5

Acquisitions, disposals and merging of associated companies and subsidiaries

Acquisitions

Disposals

On July 27, 2012 AS Bangalo (100% of the shares held by AS SEB Pank) and AS SEB Kindlustusmaakler (100%
of the shares held by AS SEB Liising) were merged with AS SEB Liising. 

On March 3, 2011 the subsidiary AS SEB Enskilda was sold (100% of the shares held by AS SEB Pank) to the
Scandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ). Sale price of shares of AS SEB Enskilda was 2.1 EUR mio, which was
the book value of net assets.

No acquisitions occurred in 2012 and 2011.
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19. Intangible assets

At the beginning of period  (01.01.11)
Cost 5.7
Accumulated amortisation -5.2
Carrying value 0.5

Opening carrying value 0.5
Additions 0.2
Amortisation charge -0.3
Closing carrying value 0.4

At end of period (31.12.11)
Cost 5.8
Accumulated amortisation -5.4
Carrying value 0.4

Opening carrying value 0.4
Additions 0.3
Amortisation charge -0.2
Closing carrying value 0.5

At end of period (31.12.12)
Cost 6.2
Accumulated amortisation -5.7
Carrying value 0.5
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20. Property, plant and equipment

Buildings

Other 
tangible

assets Total
At the beginning of period  (01.01.11)
Cost 3.5 24.5 28.0
Accumulated depreciation -1.7 -19.0 -20.7
Carrying value 1.8 5.5 7.3

Opening carrying value 1.8 5.5 7.3
Additions 0.8 2.4 3.2
Disposals (carrying value)* -0.2 -0.1 -0.3
Depreciation charge -0.4 -2.3 -2.7
Closing carrying value 2.0 5.5 7.5

At end of period (31.12.11)
Cost 3.4 23.5 26.9
Accumulated depreciation -1.4 -18.0 -19.4
Carrying value 2.0 5.5 7.5

Opening carrying value 2.0 5.5 7.5
Additions 0.7 4.3 5.0
Depreciation charge -0.6 -2.4 -3.0
Reclassification 0.0 -0.3 -0.3

Closing carrying value 2.1 7.1 9.2

At end of period (31.12.12)
Cost 3.9 25.7 29.6
Accumulated depreciation -1.8 -18.6 -20.4
Carrying value 2.1 7.1 9.2
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21. Due to credit institutions
31.12.12 31.12.11

Demand deposits 46.9 33.7
Time deposits and loans (remaining maturity up to 1 year) 217.1 608.6
Time deposits and loans (remaining maturity more than 1 year) 482.4 301.0
Accrued interest payable to credit institutions 1.8 5.2

748.2 948.5

31.12.12 31.12.11
Due to credit institutions, registered in EU (except Estonia) 736.8 923.1
Due to credit institutions, registered in Estonia 10.9 24.6
Due to credit institutions, registered in other countries 0.5 0.8

748.2 948.5

22. Due to customers
31.12.12 31.12.11

Demand deposits 2,066.0 1,555.3
Time deposits and other saving deposits 490.1 753.7
Investment deposits (index-linked) 52.1 65.9
Accrued interest payable to customers 2.5 3.9

2,610.7 2,378.8

Non-residents 383.1 290.0
Residents 2,227.6 2,088.8

2,610.7 2,378.8
Due to customers by type of customer
Due to corporate customers 1,428.0 1,220.8
Public sector 97.4 149.9
Due to individuals 1,085.3 1,008.1

2,610.7 2,378.8

Due to customers, registered in EU (except Estonia) 75.7 53.6
Due to customers, registered in Estonia 2,227.6 2,088.8
Due to customers, registered in other countries 307.4 236.4

2,610.7 2,378.8

Due from customers by currency is presented in Note 2, on page 53.

582.1 EUR mio as at 31.12.2012 and 862.8 EUR mio as at 31.12.2011 were due from group to parent bank
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (Note 33).

In 2011 EU grants related to the KFW Bankengruppe credit line, loan agreement 26.11.2007 in a total amount of
25 EUR mio, were disbursed in amount of 25 thousand euros. The credit line from 31.12.2009 was disbursed and
used in 2011 amount of 6.0 EUR mio. No additional loans taken from KFW Bankengruppe in 2012. 

Due from customers by maturity is presented in interest restatement by maturity on pages 56-57.
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Customer assets under management of the group 
 
As of 31.12.2012 the customer securities portfolios under management of the group amounted 
to 163.4 million euros (including 79.2 million in portfolio of SEB Elu- ja Pensionikindlustus). 
The total volume of aforementioned portfolios as of 31.12.2011 was 134.9 million euros 
(including 71.6 million in portfolio of SEB Elu- ja Pensionikindlustus). Commission fee is 
received from management of these portfolios and no credit or market risk is born by the 
group. 
 
As at 31.12.2012 the group's asset management company belonging to the Group (AS SEB 
Varahaldus) managed 12 investment and pension funds (i.e. 6 open-end investment funds, 4 
mandatory pension funds and 2 voluntary pension fund) with average total volume of 456.5 
million euros. As at 31.12.2011 AS SEB Varahaldus managed 13 investment and pension 
funds (i.e. 6 open-end investment funds, 1 closed-end investment fund, 4 mandatory pension 
funds and 2 voluntary pension fund) with average total volume of 392.0 million euros. 
Investment management service was also performed to the SEB (parent Group) Eastern-
European funds: (4 funds) as at 2012 938.4 million euros, as at 2011 807.0 million euros.  
 
On June 21, 2012 SEB High-Yield Bond Fund was liquidated. On May 5, 2011 SEB 
Likviidsusfond was liquidated. 
 
 23. Loan funds 
  
Credit line resources from Maaelu Edendamise Sihtasutus (MES) were disbursed with the 
intended purpose to finance small and medium enterprises operating in rural areas. Under 
mentioned credit line investments have to be made outside Tallinn, Tartu, Narva, Kohtla-
Järve and Pärnu (major towns in Estonia). Loan funds include also a credit line from Credit 
and Export Guarantee Fund KredEx, granted to apartment associations for energy efficient 
renovation works. The funds are for relending with a tenor of up to 20 years. 
 

 

24. Other liabilities
31.12.12 31.12.11

Payments in transit 47.0 32.3
Other prepaid income 3.8 2.6
Factoring balances 14.7 10.8
Tax debts 1.1 1.6
Other accrued costs 3.5 4.7
Prepaid guarantee income 0.7 0.8
Prepayments from leasing customers 2.9 2.0

73.7 54.8

25. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
31.12.12 31.12.11

Derivatives (Note 31) 21.7 20.5
21.7 20.5

AS SEB Pank has no any class of debt or equity instruments in a public market since 16.06.2009. Therefore also 
segment analysis according to IFRS 8 is not described. 
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Subordinated debt may be considered as hybrid instrument, which means that due to their 
partial capital nature may be included under the bank’s own funds in case certain 
requirements are met. In calculation of capital adequacy, loans with the remaining maturity 
over 5 years meeting certain requirements are included in own funds. Regarding loans with 

26. Provisions

Provisions 
total

Provisions as at 01.01.11 0.3

Added to the provisions 5.3

Amounts used and unused amounts reversed -2.7

Total provisions as at 31.12.11 2.9

Provisions as at 01.01.12 2.9

Added to the provisions 1.7

Calculated during the period under review -2.7

Total provisions as at 31.12.12 1.9

In the note is presented provisions for contingent liabilities.

Carrying Future expected undiscounted cash flows by years

31.12.11 amount 0-5 years 5-10 years 10-15 years 15-20 years >20 years

Provisions 2.9 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Carrying Future expected undiscounted cash flows by years

31.12.12 amount 0-5 years 5-10 years 10-15 years 15-20 years >20 years

Provisions 1.9 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

27. Subordinated loans

31.12.12

31.12.11

Amount

Interest rate 
at reporting 

date  (% )
Maturity 

date

Issuer
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 50.0 2.45 29.05.17

Accrued interest payable 0.1

50.1

Subordinated debt 50.0 EUR mio was repaid to Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB ahead of time on May 29,
2012.
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maturity less than 5 years, a 20% straight-line depreciation is applied in each following year. 
The loan is not considered own funds when the remaining maturity period is less than one 
year. 
 
Subordinated debt is issued at a variable interest rate and the interest restatement is scheduled 
in 12 month from the reporting date (see Note 2 page 56-57). Interest is restated for 6 months 
period in advance. Subordinated debt is repayable at the option of the borrower if the 
remaining maturity is less than 5 years. 
 
28. Shareholders 

 
 
 
29. Dividend policy 
 
AS SEB Pank is 100%-owned by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ). In working out 
the strategy for equity management, profit distribution and formation of reserves the bank is 
following the common approach of future risks and performance strategy of the SEB Group. 
The Group has not paid any dividend since acquisition by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 
AB (publ). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Country

Number of 
shares

%  from total 
number

Shareholders of AS SEB Pank at 31.12.2012:

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Sweden 66,562,381 100.00

Shareholders of AS SEB Pank at 31.12.2011:

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Sweden 66,562,381 100.00

Share capital, EUR 42,541,115

Nominal value of shares, EUR 0.64

Maximum number of shares in articles of association: 240,000,000 

All issued shares are paid for.

See capital adequacy calculation in Note 2.8.

Share information 31.12.12 31.12.11

Number of shares of AS SEB Pank at end of period 66,562,381 66,562,381

Average number of shares, adjusted with issues 66,562,381 66,562,381

Net profit, EUR mio 71.3 98.1

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) is the ultimate parent of AS SEB Pank. Skandinaviska Enskilda
Banken AB (publ) (incorporated in Sweden) does not have a controlling parent company.
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30. Other reserves 

 
 
According to the Income Tax Act valid until 2000 the credit institutions were able to form a 
tax exempt general banking reserve up to 5% of the loan portfolio to cover potential losses. 
Allocations to this reserve could be deducted from the taxable income. 
 
According to the Commercial Code at least 5% of the net income has to be transferred into the 
statutory reserve capital every year, until the reserve capital comprises 10% of the share 
capital. The statutory reserve capital may be used for covering losses. 
 
AS SEB Pank profit for the year 1994 - 1997 has been allocated to that general banking 
reserve (except for 0.4 million euros from the 1995-year profit). The reserve amounts to 19.1 
million euros, including also the bank's statutory reserve capital according to the Commercial 
Code. In 1998 - 2011 the bank made no allocations to the reserves. In 2001 - 2011 the 
subsidiaries of AS SEB Pank made allocations to the statutory reserves from their 
undistributed profits in the amount of 0.3 million euros.      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31.12.12 31.12.11
General banking reserve 19.1 19.1
Statutory reserve 0.3 0.4
Revaluation reserve of Available-for-sale financial assets 0.9 0.3

20.3 19.8

Movements of other reserves

General 
banking 
reserve

Revaluation 
reserve of 

Available-for-
sale financial 

assets
Statutory 
reserve

Total other 
reserves

Balance at the beginning of the period (01.01.11) 19.1 0.4 0.4 19.9
Net gain/loss from the change in fair value 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -0.1
Balance at the end of the period (31.12.11) 19.1 0.3 0.4 19.8

Balance at the beginning of the period (02.01.12) 19.1 0.3 0.4 19.8
Transfer from the retained profits 0.0 0.0 -0.1 -0.1
Net gain/loss from the change in fair value 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6
Balance at the end of the period (31.12.12) 19.1 0.9 0.3 20.3
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* Derivative transactions are executed to cover the client’s position and the derivative risks 
are not taken to own portfolio. All risks arising from these transactions are fully mitigated 
with parent company. The equity option prices are calculated using for all input data (e.g. 
underlying prices or volumes) either independently sourced input (e.g. the underlying prices) 
or an independent price verification is performed on the next day to compare the values to 
independently sourced market data (e.g. for volumes), see Note 16. 
 
Pursuant to the Law of Obligations Act, the operating lease agreements, concluded by AS 
SEB Liising are partially related to a contingent liability, the likelihood and the amount of 
which cannot be definitely determined. According to the management of the company, based 
on the previous practice, realisation of the obligation is unlikely. 

31. Contingent assets and liabilities and commitments

31.12.12 Contract amount Balance value

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

1. Irrevocable and revocable transactions 7.6 1,024.0 0.0 0.0

1.1 268.5 0.0 0.0

    incl. financial guarantees 0.0 92.1 0.0 0.0

1.2. Loan commitments 6.5 655.5 0.0 0.0

1.3. Other revocable transactions 0.0 100.0 0.0 0.0

2. Derivatives 521.4 520.7 21.3 21.7

2.1. Currency related derivatives 114.6 114.5 0.5 0.4

2.2. Interest related derivatives 379.1 378.9 19.5 19.4

2.3. Equity related derivatives* 27.7 27.3 1.3 1.9

529.0 1,544.7 21.3 21.7

31.12.11 Contract amount Balance value

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

1. Irrevocable transactions 7.2 707.6 0.0 0.0

0.7 244.7 0.0 0.0

    incl. financial guarantees 0.0 76.5 0.0 0.0

1.2. Loan commitments 6.5 362.9 0.0 0.0

1.3. Other revocable transactions 0.0 100.0 0.0 0.0

2. Derivatives 506.9 505.9 19.8 20.5

2.1. Currency related derivatives 119.8 119.5 1.3 1.1

2.2. Interest related derivatives 346.5 346.4 17.3 17.2

2.3. Equity related derivatives* 40.6 40.0 1.2 2.2

514.1 1,213.5 19.8 20.5

1.1. Guarantees and other similar off-balance sheet 
irrovocable liabilitieas and claims

1.1. Guarantees and other similar off-balance sheet 
irrovocable liabilitieas and claims
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Potential income tax on distribution of dividends 
The retained earnings of the Group as at 31 December 2012 were 553.7 (31 December 2011: 
481.9) EURmio. Distribution of retained earnings as dividends to the owners is subject to the 
income tax at the rate of 21/79 on the amount paid out as net dividends. Therefore, taking into 
account minimum requirement for Net Own funds for calculation of capital adequacy, from 
the retained earnings available at the reporting date it is possible to pay out to the shareholders 
as dividends 322.9 EUR mio and the corresponding income tax would amount to 85.8 EUR 
mio. As of 31 December 2011, taking into account minimum requirement for Net Own funds 
for calculation of capital adequacy, it would have been possible to pay out dividends the 
amount of 307.2 EUR mio, and the corresponding income tax would have amounted to 81.6 
EUR mio (see page 67).  
 
As at 31 December 2012 (and 31 December 2011) 100% shares of AS SEB Pank are owned 
by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), who makes the decisions about profit 
distribution. Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) has decided not to pay out dividends 
from the retained profit of AS SEB Pank.  
 
Potential liabilities arising from tax inspection 
In 2012 the tax authority did not conduct tax audit in the AS SEB Pank and subsidiaries. The 
tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records of the company within 6 years 
subsequent to the reported tax year, and may as a result of their inspection impose additional 
tax assessments and penalties.  
 
The management of AS SEB Pank is not aware of any circumstances which may give rise to a 
potential material liability in this respect. 
 
Legal disputes 
There are no outstanding legal disputes from which AS SEB Pank Group could suffer major 
losses. 
 
 
32. Subsequent events 
 
No such material events have occurred after the end of the financial year in AS SEB Pank, 
that would affect the conditions of the assets and liabilities as at the reporting date 
31.12.2012.  
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33. Related parties
31.12.12 31.12.11

Loans and advances to members of Management Board of credit institution and internal audit
manager, also their confidants and commercial undertakings, controlled jointly or severally by the
mentioned persons 1.0 1.2

Contingent liabilities to members of Management Board of credit institution and internal audit
manager, also their confidants and commercial undertakings, controlled jointly or severally by the
mentioned persons (credit lines and commitments to extend credit) 0.0 0.0

Deposits of members of management board of credit institution and internal audit manager, also their
confidants and commercial undertakings, controlled jointly or severally by the mentioned persons 0.2 4.8

Loans and advances to parent company 244.5 406.3

In 2012, the loans and advances to parent company includes demand deposits 22,8 EUR mio and term
deposits with a term up to one year (USD) 219.8 EUR mio with interest rate 0.18-0.31%.

In 2011, the loans and advances to parent company includes demand deposits 31.5 EUR mio and term
deposits with a term up to one year (EUR, GBP, SEK, USD) 374.8 EUR mio with interest rate 0.1-
2.96%.

Due to parent company 695.7 930.6

In 2012, due to parent company includes credit lines in EUR with contractual tenor of 2-5 years,
interest rate 0.668 – 4.59%, in amount of 580.3 EUR mio (in Note 22 together with interests 582.1 EUR
mio). Subordinated loan, 50.0 EUR mio, was repaid to Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB ahead of
time on May 29, 2012.

In 2011, due to parent company includes 50 EUR mio subordinated loan (Note 28) and credit lines in
EUR with contractual tenor of 2-10 years, interest rate 1.736 – 5.438%, in amount of 857.8 EUR mio (in
Note 22 together with interests 862.8 EUR mio).

Contingent assets and commitments to parent company 55.0 55.0
Contingent liabilities and commitments to parent company 0.4 0.3

Loans and advances to enterprises of parent company's consolidation group 14.6 12.2
Due to enterprises of parent company's consolidation group 36.0 23.5
Contingent assets and commitments to enterprises of parent company's consolidation group 0.2 0.2
Contingent liabilities and commitments to enterprises of parent company's consolidation group 3.0 3.0

Interest and similar income from parent company 2.5 3.2

Interest expenses and similar charges to parent company -14.1 -24.0

Fee and commission income from parent company 0.0 0.0

Fee and commission expense to parent company -0.1 -0.1

Interest and similar income from enterprises of parent company's consolidation group 0.1 0.1
Interest expenses and similar charges to enterprises of parent company's consolidation group -0.1 -0.1
Fee and commission income from enterprises of parent company's consolidation group 3.9 4.2
Fee and commission expense to enterprises of parent company's consolidation group 0.0 -0.4

Interest rates of the loans given to related parties do not differ materially from interest rates of the
loans to customers. Transactions with related parties have been based on market terms.

Related parties are:
- parent company;
- subsidiaries of parent company;
- associates of parent company;
- associates of the Group;
- members of Management Board of AS SEB Pank and internal audit manager, also their close family members
  and commercial undertakings, controlled jointly or severally by the mentioned persons.
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Members of Supervisory Board in AS SEB Pank and in it's subsidiaries have no salaries or 
other benefits in 2012 and 2011. 
 
Remuneration and compensations to key management personnel 
Management Board members of AS SEB Pank and its subsidiaries are paid compensation 
amounting up to 12 times average monthly pay, if they are not elected to the management 
board for a new term. Compensation is not be paid, if the person continues to work in a 
company belonging to the SEB group under contract of employment or is elected to the 
management board of another company belonging to the SEB group or the agreement is 
terminated due to violation of obligations by the member of the management board. 
 
The members of AS SEB Pank’s Management Board and members of the Management Team 
have an initial allotment of 163,590 performance shares as of 31.12.2010,  with 3 year 
qualification period. The members of AS SEB Pank’s Management Board and members of 
the Management Team have an initial allotment of 14,257 saving shares as of 31.12.2011 with 
3 year qualification period. The members of AS SEB Pank’s Management Board and 
members of the Management Team have an initial allotment of 15,620 saving shares as of 
31.12.2012 with 3 year qualification period. The closing price of Skandinaviska Enskilda 
Banken AB (publ)  share as of 28.12.2012 was 55.30 SEK. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2012 2011

Salaries and other benefits to the management in AS SEB Pank

Members of Management Board 0.7 0.7
- salaries 0.7 0.6
- other benefits to the key management 0.0 0.1

Salaries and other benefits to the management in subsidiaries of AS SEB Pank

Members of Management Board 0.3 0.3
- salaries 0.3 0.3
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34. Primary statements of parent company as a separate entity

1. Income statement, Bank
(millions of EUR)

2012 2011

Interest and similar income 93.7 111.5

Interest expenses and similar charges -22.1 -32.1

Net Interest Income 71.6 79.4

Fee and commission income 43.0 40.7

Fee and commission expense -12.8 -12.0

Net fee and commission income 30.2 28.7

Net income from foreign exchange 4.8 4.8

2.5 2.2

Income from dividends 0.0 0.0

Gains less losses from investment securities -0.1 1.1

Share of profit of associates 0.0 0.0

Other income 0.5 0.5

Personnel expenses -31.6 -32.7

Other expenses -16.5 -18.3

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets -3.2 -3.0

Profit before impairment losses on loans and advances 58.2 62.7

Impairment losses on loans and advances 1.1 18.7

Profit before income tax 59.3 81.4

Net profit 59.3 81.4

Profit attributable to the sole equity holder 59.3 81.4

2. Statement of comprehensive income, Bank
(millions of EUR) 2012 2011

Net profit 59.3 81.4
Other comprehensive income/expense

Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 0.3 0.1
Total other comprehensive income/expense 0.3 0.1

Total comprehensive income 59.6 81.5

Sole equity holder of the parent entity (total) 59.6 81.5
-Total comprehensive income from continued operations 59.6 81.5

59.6 81.5

Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

In accordance with the Estonian Accounting Act information on the separate primary financial 
statements of a consolidated entity shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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3. Statement of financial position, Bank
(millions of EUR)

31.12.12 31.12.11

ASSETS

Cash 46.6 38.7

Balances with central bank 191.0 49.5

Loans and advances to credit institutions 291.4 423.0

Loans and advances to customers 3,145.5 3,141.3

Financial assets held for trading 21.4 21.0

Available-for-sale financial assets 0.8 0.9

Other assets 22.0 13.5

Investments in subsidiaries and associates 5.5 5.5

Intangible assets 0.5 0.4

Property, plant and equipment 9.2 7.5

TOTAL ASSETS 3,733.9 3,701.3

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Due to credit institutions 426.7 658.5

Due to customers 2,657.1 2,424.2

Loan funds 22.3 15.5

Other liabilities 54.9 40.3

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 21.7 20.5

Provisions 1.9 2.9

Subordinated loans 0.0 50.1

Total Liabilities 3,184.6 3,212.0

Share capital 42.5 42.5

Share premium 86.1 86.1

Other reserves 19.6 19.3

Retained earnings 401.1 341.4

Total shareholders' equity 549.3 489.3

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 3,733.9 3,701.3
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4. Statement of cash flows, Bank
(millions of EUR)

2012 2011
I. Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received 96.7 110.7
Interest paid -26.1 -32.5
Fee and commission received 43.0 40.7
Fee and commission paid -12.8 -12.0
Net trading income and other operating income 17.3 16.0
Personnel expenses and other operating expenses -57.3 -58.8

60.8 64.1

   Changes in operating assets:
Loans and advances to credit institutions and mandatory reserve in central bank 171.9 -321.7
Loans and advances to customers -5.3 95.7
Other assets -2.6 0.4

   Changes of operating liabilities:
Due to credit institutions -214.3 -488.0

Due to customers 234.4 242.7
Loan funds 6.8 3.9
Other liabilities -0.2 -3.1
Cash flow from (used in) operating activities 251.5 -406.0

II. Cash flows from investing activities
Net increase-/decrease+ of investment portfolio securities 0.5 -0.5
Proceeds from sale and liquidation of subsidiaries 0.0 2.1
Purchase of investment properties, tangible and intangible assets -5.0 -3.3
Cash flow from (used in) investing activities, continued operations -4.5 -1.7

III. Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of subordinated loans -50.0 -67.0
Cash used in financing activities -50.0 -67.0

Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 197.0 -474.7

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 87.3 562.0
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.0

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 284.3 87.3

Cash and cash equivalents includes: 31.12.12 31.12.11
Cash on hand 46.6 38.7
Balances with the central bank without mandatory reserve 166.1 0.0
Liquid deposits in other credit institutions 71.5 47.4
Trading portfolio 0.1 1.2

284.3 87.3

All cash equivalents are freely available for use by the Bank with maturity of less than 3 months.

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in the operating assets and 
liabilities
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5. Statement of changes in shareholders' equity, Bank
(millions of EUR)

Share
capital

 (Note  28)
Share

premium 

Other
reserves
(Note 30)

Retained
earnings

Total share-
holders'
equity  

Year beginning 01.01.2011 42.5 86.1 19.2 259.5 407.3
Other 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5
Net profit 0.0 0.0 0.0 81.4 81.4
Other comprehensive expense:

Net change in available-for-sale financial assets 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1
Total other comprehensive expense 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1
Total comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.1 81.4 81.5

Final balance 31.12.2011 42.5 86.1 19.3 341.4 489.3

5.5

146.5

42.5 86.1 19.3 341.4 630.3

Year beginning 01.01.2012 42.5 86.1 19.3 341.4 489.3
Other 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.4
Net profit 0.0 0.0 0.0 59.3 59.3
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in available-for-sale financial assets 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3
Total other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3
Total comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.3 59.3 59.6
Final balance 31.12.2012 42.5 86.1 19.6 401.1 549.3

5.5

159.0

42.5 86.1 19.6 401.1 702.8

Book value of holdings under control or significant 
influence

Value of holdings under control or significant 
influence, calculated by equity method

Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31.12.2012

Book value of holdings under control or significant 
influence

Value of holdings under control or significant 
influence, calculated by equity method

Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31.12.2011



AS PricewaterhouseCoopers, Pärnu mnt 15, 10141 Tallinn, Estonia; Audit Company’s Registration No.6
T: +372 614 1800, F: +372 614 1900, www.pwc.ee

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Translation of the Estonian original)

To the Shareholder of AS SEB Pank

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of AS SEB Pank and its
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2012
and the consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management Board’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, and for such internal control as the Management Board determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.



2 (2)

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of AS SEB Pank and its subsidiaries as of 31 December 2012, and their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

AS PricewaterhouseCoopers

Ago Vilu Stan Nahkor
Auditor’s Certificate No.325 Auditor’s Certificate No.508

8 March 2013


This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Estonian. All

possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the
original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original
language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.
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AS SEB PANK 
Located at Tornimäe 2, Tallinn 

MANAGEMENT BOARD RESOLUTION NO 37 
 
 
 
 
In Tallinn                                                                                                             March 5th, 2013 
 
Distribution of the profit of the financial year 2012 
 
 

1.      To make a proposal to the sole shareholder not to distribute the profit of the financial 
year 2012 in the amount of  59,275,068 EUR (fifty-nine million, two hundred and 
seventy-five thousand, sixty-eight euros). 
 
2.      To submit the present resolution to the Supervisory Board of AS SEB Pank for 
review. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Riho Unt 
Chairman of the Management Board 
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Signatures of Supervisory Board to annual report 
 
The Management Board has prepared the management report and the annual accounts of AS 
SEB Pank for the financial year ended 31 December 2012. 
 
The Supervisory Board of AS SEB Pank has reviewed the Annual Report 2012, prepared by 
the Management Board, consisting of the management report, the annual accounts, the 
Management Board's proposal for profit distribution and the independent auditors' report, and 
has approved the annual report for presentation to the sole shareholder. 
 
 
The annual report has been signed by all members of the Supervisory Board : 
 
 
 
“_____”_______________2013     ________________________ Martin Johansson 
                  
 
“_____”_______________2013     ________________________ Stefan Stignäs 
 
 
“_____”_______________2013     ________________________ Mark Payne 
 
 
“_____”_______________2013     ________________________ Stefan Davill 
                                                     
 
“_____”_______________2013     ________________________ Tony Kylberg 
 
 




